The experience of a heat wave and preparations for a hot future

A case study of climate change adaptation and health risks faced by the elderly population of Trelleborg

LOVE FRYKMAN 2019
MVEM30 | MASTER'S THESIS | APPLIED CLIMATE STRATEGIES | 30 CREDITS
ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE | LUND UNIVERSITY





WWW.CEC.LU.SE WWW.LU.SE

Lunds universitet

Miljövetenskaplig utbildning Centrum för miljö- och klimatforskning Ekologihuset 223 62 Lund Lund University MVEM30 CEC Tutor: HH

The experience of a heat wave and preparations for a hot future

A case study of climate change adaptation and health risks faced by the elderly population of Trelleborg.

Abstract

As global temperatures rise, adverse health effects due to heat exposure are an increasingly pressing issue, particularly threatening to the health of elderly people. Mitigating these threats requires a dynamic climate adaptation system embedding a variety of measures. Ideally, such a system incorporates the coping strategies and experiences of the vulnerable themselves in a well-developed strategical work of municipalities. This study was performed in Trelleborg in the aftermath of the extraordinarily warm summer of 2018. The aim was to investigate the specific risk context of elderly and heat, in terms of how the municipality and its elderly population experience and manage such risks, both separately and in collaboration. Three focus group sessions with elderly individuals were conducted, as well as nine interviews with municipality officials. These were analysed alongside a number of official documents on the topic. The findings showed that the elderly's primary concerns with regards to the heat is with regards to the threats to society at large, or to other elderly individuals, rather than to their own health, thus implying a need for awareness-raising measures. Nonetheless, the elderly's lives were fundamentally altered during the summer of 2018. Coping strategies included alterations of circadian rhythm, food and drink intake, and movements, and were thus mostly behavioural. These coping strategies appear as unreflected rather than deliberate. The municipality has implemented response mechanisms, particularly aimed at the citizens within the elderly care system. Moreover, it has focused on the spreading of information on risks and possible counter-measures at the individual level. However, it fails to incorporate management of heat in the urban development. This thesis provides a discussion that extends into potential ways of enhancing the adaptational work of the municipality. Suggested improvements include implementation of ecosystembased adaptation, more focus on the suitable channels of information, as well as achieving what I refer to as heat-escape.

Key words: heat wave, climate change, climate change adaptation, elderly population, citizen participation, coping strategies, adaptation interaction, resilience

Words: 14122

Acknowledgements

I wish to say thank you to a number of people without whom this thesis would not have come to be; Helena Hanson, for wise supervision; Ebba Brink, for pointing me in the direction of heat; Samuel Teeland, for your invaluable help; Anitha Ljung and Johannes Hagström for lending me your valuable time; Sara Ullström, Simon Svendler, Matilda Sandberg, Annika Evelyn Otto and Astrid Bachs, for great company, discussions and advice during this trying spring; Inger Nilsson, for invaluable help in setting up the focus groups; ABF Trelleborg / Karin Hansen, for allowing me to host the focus groups in your premises; Diana, Bruno and Sasha, my wonderful family, for withstanding 5 months in the company of this overstrained master thesis writer; and last but not least, all the participants of the study.

Table of contents

1	Int	roduction	1
	1.1	Aim & research questions	3
	1.2	Definitions	3
	1.3	Scope & constraints	3
	1.4	Disposition	4
2	The	eoretical framework	5
	2.1	Mainstreaming climate change adaptation	5
	2.2	Adaptation interactions	6
	2.3	Risk perception	6
3	Me	thodology & material	7
	3.1	A case study	7
	3.2	Research approach	7
	3.3	Focus groups with elderly	8
	3.4	Semi-structured interview with municipality officials	10
	3.5	Document analysis	10
	3.6	Material	11
	3.7	Analytical approach	13
	3.8	Ethical considerations	13
4	The	e elderly's perception of the summer of 2018	15
	4.1	Conflicting feelings	15
	4.2	Concerns of climate change	16
	4.3	Vulnerable but not vulnerable	16
	4.4	No escape from the heat	17
	4.5	Summary and discussion	17
5	Coj	ping strategies by the elderly	19
	5.1	Creating a different rhythm of life	19
	5.2	Amending food and drinks	19
	5.3	Seeking shade	20

	5.4	Being passive	20
	5.5	Summary & Discussion	21
6	Mea	sures by the municipality	23
	6.1	Heat in the climate adaptation plan	23
	6.2	Risk assessment	24
	6.3	Preparedness for response	24
	6.4	Vulnerability reduction?	26
	6.5	Summary & Discussion	26
7	Eld	erly-municipality interactions	30
	7.1	Notes on citizen participation in the climate adaptation plan	30
	7.2	Collaboration	30
	7.3	Compliance & choice	31
	7.4	Discussion	31
8	Inci	reasing the resilience of the elderly to heat waves	33
	8.1	hazard avoidance/reduction through urban heat island mapping	33
	8.2	Preparedness for response through heat escape/evacuation	34
	8.3	Vulnerability reduction through urban planning	35
	8.3 8.4	Vulnerability reduction through urban planning	
			36
	8.4	Preparedness for response through enhanced communication	36 37
9	8.4 8.5 8.6	Preparedness for response through enhanced communication	36 37 38
	8.4 8.5 8.6	Preparedness for response through enhanced communication Citizen participation	36 37 38
R	8.4 8.5 8.6 Con	Preparedness for response through enhanced communication	36 37 38 40 42

1 Introduction

Dubbed "the greatest health challenge of the 21st century" (WHO, 2018), the "existential threat" (UN.org 2018) known as climate change is a growing concern for people and governments across the globe. Unless abated, rising average temperatures attributed to anthropogenic emissions of greenhouse gases are expected to further amplify weather extremes, cause "unacceptable" harm to the lives of people and "overwhelm" the healthcare infrastructure on which populations rely (Watts et al., 2018). One estimation sees the number of excess deaths rise to 250 000 annually between 2030-2050 (WHO, 2014).

Increased mortality and morbidity associated with extreme heat events, or heat waves, make out one of the central health risks of climate change (EEA, 2017; WHO, 2014). The last decades have shown an increased frequency of extreme heat events affecting people globally (Watts et al., 2018), including the 1995 heat wave in Chicago which caused 600 excess deaths (Dematte et al., 1998). Heat waves were the deadliest form of extreme weather in Europe between 1991 and 2015 (EEA, 2017). A prominent example is the 2003 heat wave in Europe that caused about 70 000 excess deaths (Robine et al., 2008). In Sweden, the "extremely warm and sunny" (SMHI, 2018) weather during the summer of 2018 has been estimated to have caused around 700 excess deaths (Ahmed & Galanis, 2018). Along with rising temperatures, heat waves are expected to become more intense, more frequent and more durable (Pachauri & Meyer, 2014; Perkins et al., 2012; SMHI, 2014). The southern part of Sweden is expected to experience a significant rise in extreme heat events (EEA, 2017), with temperatures as high as 40 degrees Celsius every 20th year at the end of this century (SMHI, 2011), far exceeding the extraordinary temperatures of the summer of 2018.

The vulnerability to heat waves varies among the population according to geographical and demographic parameters. Due to the thermal properties of the materials and activities that characterize cities, urban environments generally have higher temperatures than their rural surroundings (Andersson et al., 2012). This phenomenon, known as the *urban heat island effect*, makes the occurrence of heat waves a particularly pressing issue for urban dwellers (Field et al., 2012; Li & Bou-Zeid, 2013; Ward et al., 2016). Thus it is to accurate in a double sense to describe cities as "hotspots of disasters and risk" (Wamsler, 2014).

Among the population in a city, risk of suffering from heat-induced mortality or morbidity varies according to physiological and social factors, which together create a so-called *differential vulnerability* (Fernandez Milan & Creutzig, 2015; Jonsson & Lundgren, 2015). The elderly are known to be particularly susceptible to health risks from exposure to extreme heat (Ahmed & Galanis, 2018; Cadot et al., 2007; Frumhoff et al., 2007; Gamble et al., 2013; Jonsson & Lundgren, 2015) and according to WHO (2014), climate change is going to substantially increase

the risk of such exposure, even in high-income countries such as Sweden. Hence, there is a pressing need to increase the resilience of the elderly against extreme heat events.

The process of mitigating the negative effects of climate change is known as climate change adaptation, defined as "adjustment[s] in natural or human systems in response to actual or expected climatic stimuli or their effects" (McCarthy et al., 2001). To be successful, climate change adaptation needs to be dynamic, flexible and innovative (Morss et al., 2011; Wamsler, 2014). This can be achieved through the combination of multiple measures (Wamsler & Brink, 2014). Due to their multifunctionality, ecosystem-based solutions are widely advocated as an eligible way of tackling climate-related issues (Gill et al., 2007; Hall et al., 2015; Thoni, 2017). However, the theory and practice of climate change adaptation so far has been concentrated on the application of technological solutions, modification of physical structures and the organization of institutional response (Jonsson & Lundgren, 2015; Maller & Strengers, 2011), implicitly conveying an image of citizens as passive recipients of top-down governance (Fagan-Watson & Burchell, 2016; Jonsson & Lundgren, 2015). This image does not reflect reality in terms of what actually happens in times of crisis.

The role of citizens is in several ways crucial for climate change adaptation, which is confirmed by the importance granted to it in the Paris agreement (Nassopoulos et al., 2015; UNFCCC, 2015). The measures and actions taken by citizens prior to, and in response to heatwaves, are often referred to as "coping strategies" (Wamsler, 2014). These can mitigate the risks for the citizens themselves and for others (Mees et al., 2015). It has been argued that a one-sided focus on top-down strategies might lead to such ordinary measures being overlooked consequently weakening their potential to synergize (Adger et al., 2013; Maller & Strengers, 2011). Beyond the creation of efficient measures, promoting the participation of citizens in managing adaptation issues can have several co-benefits, and entail stronger legitimacy for solutions as well as an increased public understanding of the underlying issues (Burton & Nalau, 2013; Cloutier et al., 2015; Foss, 2016; Prutsch et al., 2018; Wiseman et al., 2010).

Despite these benefits, scientific inquiries into how elderly people and institutions respectively, manage and collaborate on heat-related hazards are few, at least in a "western" context. Scholars has called for qualitative studies that covers what citizens do when climate-related hazards occur (Cornes & Cook, 2018; Hegger et al., 2017; Jonsson & Lundgren, 2015), how citizens participate or engage in climate change adaptation (Brink, 2018; Rhoades, 2016; Sarzynski, 2015), as well as how citizens interact with municipalities on these issues (Brink & Wamsler, 2018). Moreover, it has been argued that vulnerable groups, such as the elderly in particular, have received limited attention when it comes to their role in climate change adaptation (Greenberg, 2014; Jonsson & Lundgren, 2015; Rhoades, 2016). The same has been said for the topic of heat (Brink, 2018).

1.1 Aim & research questions

The aim of this thesis is to investigate the specific risk context of elderly and heat, with respect to how a municipality and its elderly population manage such risk. The study is performed in the municipality of Trelleborg, Sweden with special focus on the "extremely warm and sunny" summer of 2018 (SMHI, 2018). The inquiry attempts to answer the following research questions:

- (1) How was the hot weather during the summer of 2018 perceived by the elderly population in Trelleborg, in terms of its health risks?
- (2) How did the elderly population of Trelleborg cope with the hot weather during the summer of 2018?
- (3) How does the municipality of Trelleborg strategically manage the health risks to its elderly population due to heat exposure?
- (4) How does the elderly population and the municipality of Trelleborg interact on mitigating the health risks to elderly due to heat exposure?
- (5) With respect to the answers of questions 1-4, how can the municipality of Trelleborg improve the flexibility of its adaptational measures regarding health risks to elderly?

1.2 Definitions

The elderly is the part of the population whose age exceeds 65 (Folkhälsomyndigheten, 2015). Health risk is the risk of morbidity (illness) and/or mortality (death) (Astrom et al., 2011).

1.3 Scope & constraints

Research question one and two are constrained to a particular group of elderly, as opposed to striving for the "average" elderly individual. The implications of which is elaborated on in section 3.3.

1.4 Disposition

Chapter 2 outlines the theoretical framework and main concepts used to analyse the empirical material. Chapter 3 outlines the methodological conduct of the study. Chapters 4-8 correspond to the research questions 1-5 and includes the presentation, and analysis, of the results. Chapter 9 concludes with the main findings of the study.

2 Theoretical framework

This chapter outlines the theory and concepts that was used to understand the empirical material and put it in context. The analysis of the adaptational measures taken by the municipality and elderly citizens (research question two and three), makes use of a theoretical framework created by Wamsler (2014) (section 2.1). The structuring of citizen-municipality interactions (research question four) makes use of the concept *adaptation interactions* (section 2.2). The elderly's perceptions of the summer of 2018 (research question one) are understood through the notions of *risk perception* (section 2.3).

2.1 Mainstreaming climate change adaptation

Increasing the resilience of society in order to make it withstand climate related hazards such as heat waves, requires climate change adaptation to be "mainstreamed" (Brink & Wamsler, 2018; Hall et al., 2015; Wamsler, 2006, 2014; WHO, 2018). This essentially means that the adaptational issues are given active consideration "in all sectors and at all levels of society" (Wamsler, 2014, p. 271). To foster adaptation mainstreaming, Wamsler (2014) has created an analytical framework which allows for categorization of the adaptational measures taken by municipalities and citizens. This makes it possible to expose gaps among the measures. The framework has been used in order structure and analyse the empirical data of this study that concerns the coping strategies by the elderly, as well as the heat management by the municipality. Wamsler (2014) has identified five main "activities" of climate change adaptation, Firstly, hazard reduction and avoidance, include those measures that reduce, or lead to avoidance of, hazard exposure. Vulnerability reduction include measures that does not affect the hazard itself but reduce vulnerability to it. Preparedness for response include those measures that puts in place response mechanisms that can be activated during hazards. Preparedness for recovery include those measures that enhance the ability of individuals and institutions to recover after an extreme weather event. Risk assessment measures asses risk of hazards and is therefore fundamental to the previous four activities. Additionally, within each activity, the subcategories of "grey", "green" and "behavioural" is provided as further distinctions, respectively referring to the sort of measure taken. Grey measures are technical solutions or consist of hard structures. Green measures are based on ecosystem services or nature-based solutions. Behavioural measures targets behaviours or awareness through for example information. This is sometimes also

referred to as *soft* measures (EEA, 2012). It is often argued that addressing risks with a broad set of measures characterizes strong systems which are enhanced by synergetic effects (Hintz et al., 2018). Wamsler and Brink (2014) uses the notions of "flexibility" and "inclusiveness" to denote such systems. "Inclusive" systems utilize all of the five previously mentioned activities to mitigate climate related risks, whereas "flexibility" refers to the implementation of measures from all the subcategories (grey, green, behavioural) within each activity. According to Wamsler and Brink (2014), resilience "does not depend on the effectiveness of individual practices but on the *flexibility* and *inclusiveness* of coping/adaptation systems", thus bringing a normative dimension to the analytical framework.

2.2 Adaptation interactions

Research question four of this inquiry addresses citizen-municipality interactions on adaptation to heat exposure. The study structures the results according to the concept "adaptation interactions", which is defined as "interactions between citizens and municipalities that further adaptation to and management of adverse climate effects" (Brink & Wamsler, 2018). The concept focus on interactions resting on active engagement by the municipality and citizen, with primary focus on the outcome. As such, the concept is broader than the more common concept of citizen participation. Adaptation interactions differentiates between four types of interactions, namely; *collaboration*, for example through co-managing risks through jointly developed plans; *contestation*, by which citizens challenge top-down governance; *compliance*, through which citizens follow top-down directives; and *choice*, for the interactions where citizens freely choose to follow incentives.

2.3 Risk perception

The notion of risk is commonly defined as "the consequences of an action or event multiplied by its likelihood" (Adger et al., 2018). However, there are relevant subjective dimensions to the concept. The elderly's perceptions of the summer of 2018 actualizes the notion of *risk perception*, which can be defined as "the subjective judgement that people make about the characteristics and severity of a risk" (Brighetti et al., 2011). Alongside the adjacent concepts of *health risk perception* and *risk awareness*, it has received attention in the climate adaptation literature (K. L. Akerlof et al., 2015; Akompab et al., 2013; Beaulieu et al., 2016; Demski et al., 2017; Taylor et al., 2014). It underlines the subjective dimension of risk and relates to vulnerability in the sense that it influences adaptive behaviour, and ultimately the development of climate adaptation.

3 Methodology & material

3.1 A case study

This thesis is a case study done in the context of the municipality of Trelleborg and the unusually hot summer of 2018. Case studies are said to be appropriate when researching "contemporary phenomenon[s] in depth and within [their] real-world context" (Yin, 2014). Due to the particularities of the summer of 2018, and the geographical properties of Trelleborg previously mentioned, it is clear that they make out an appropriate *real-world context* when researching the phenomenon of climate change adaptation to heat related hazards. Case studies are commonly questioned over the generalizability of one case (Denscombe, 2018), but experienced case study researchers has labelled such propositions as "misunderstandings" (Flyvbjerg, 2006). Case studies might not be generalizable to populations, but neither is that the point. Yin (2014), for example, reasons that case studies are generalizable to "theoretical propositions", and as such, they can be warranted by making out important contributions to what Flybjerg (2006) refers to as the "collective process of knowledge accumulation".

3.2 Research approach

Following key initial decisions regarding the case and its context, the study progressed throughout the following phases; (1) a reading of the theoretical field; (2) construction of the methodological approach and sampling; (3) collection of the empirical material and finally; (4) the analysis of the empirical material. This does not however designate a strictly linear research process. Rather, the analysis in phase four shuttled back and forth between the empirical material and the theoretical field, with prominent influence of the theoretical framework by Wamsler outlined in chapter 2. As a consequence, the final work is a result of the interplay between theory and empirical material affecting each other. A research approach such as the one described is neither exclusively inductive nor deductive, but is often labelled *abductive*, and allows the researcher a certain freedom often necessary when conducting case study research (Alvesson & Sköldberg, 2008; Patel & Davidson, 2011).

Since case studies usually go "in depth", they depend on a rich empirical material, often derived from several kinds of sources using multiple data collection methods (Denscombe, 2018; Robson, 1993; Yin, 2014). Accordingly, this study is done in a mixed methods fashion, making use of three qualitative methods (see table 1). A detailed description of how each method was used follows in section 3.3 (focus groups), 3.4 (semi-structured interviews) and 3.5 (document analysis). This is followed by a summary and discussion of the resulting empirical material in section 3.6.

Table 1 Data collection methods and their correspondence to the units of analysis and research questions

Unit of analysis	Elderly	Municipality
Method	Focus groups	Semi-structured interviews
		E-mail interviews
		Document analysis
Addressed research question	1, 2, 4, 5	3, 4, 5

3.3 Focus groups with elderly

A focus group is a "structured group conversation" (Wibeck, 2000) where a number of participants interact around a topic chosen by the researcher. The method is suitable when researching how people act as well as how they motivate their actions in an exploratory manner and thus well in harmony with the aim of studying coping strategies by citizens (Bryman, 2016; Wibeck, 2000).

The advantages of focus groups stem from group dynamics and its potential to render rich material with little involvement of the researcher (Esaiasson et al., 2017). Through its potential synergistic effects, the group dynamics might lead to the participants asking questions amongst themselves, and consequently bringing up aspects of the issue in question that the researcher otherwise would not have thought of (Cameron, 2016; Wibeck, 2000). The success of a focus group is consequently dependent on how well the group members interact (Wibeck, 2000). The quality of the interaction, in turn, depends on aspects such as group

composition, group size, the group moderation, and the environment where the focus group takes place (Wibeck, 2000).

Compatible groups interact better, and thus creates better results. It has been argued that it is therefore advantageously to assemble participants that are somewhat similar in terms of social or physiological attributes (Wibeck, 2000). In a group of acquainted people there are better chances for a relaxed atmosphere amongst the participants. Accordingly, 16 members from a senior organization were recruited for participation in the focus groups of this study. In addition to their membership in the organization, the participants were recruited based on their age (65+) and geographic location (Trelleborg) and thus through a process of "purposive sampling" (Cameron, 2016). The sampling process moreover sought to render a diverse group of elderly, with age stretching up beyond 75 years of age, and with a mix of male and female participants. The recruitment of the sample was done in collaboration with a contact from inside the senior organization, who recruited and assembled the 16 participants in three focus groups based on instructions provided by the researcher. There are many different advices on what group size is appropriate (Bryman, 2016; Cameron, 2016; Wibeck, 2000). Expected characteristics of some elderly people (e.g. hearing problems) was taken into consideration when deciding on a number of participants in the lower end of these advices. This resulted in three groups of five to six individuals each (see table 2).

The focus group sessions were conducted in a semi-structured fashion, where the moderation primarily served to facilitate the group interaction around preconstructed questions/themes (See appendix 1) (Cameron, 2016; Denscombe, 2018). These were inspired by Krueger's (1998) categorization of questions in; opening question, introductory questions; transition questions, key questions and ending questions. Wibeck's (2000) advice was followed, and the moderation actively sought to; establish a relaxed atmosphere amongst the participants; create a basis for the conversation from which it was easy for the participants to understand their role; responsively manage disparate behaviour within the group; downplay the "expert" role of the researcher and underline the value of any answer the participants might provide. The latter was done in order to handle the *interviewer effect*, which essentially means that the identity of the researcher influences the respondents in subtle ways (Denscombe, 2018). For example, respondents might alter their answers in response to feelings of wanting to say the right thing and thus distorting the results of the study.

Additionally, since using existing groups might result in a *too* comfortable social context, where for example information might not be shared because it is implicitly understood amongst the group members, the moderator was also responsive to such tendencies (Wibeck, 2000). In order to benefit a discussion without disruptions and distractions, the session was, upon consent given by the participants, recorded and subsequently transcribed (Bryman, 2016).

Generally, it is good to choose a location where the participants feel "at home", rather than inviting them to some stiff university setting which might make them feel uncomfortable (Wibeck, 2000). During the planning of this study, the opportunity of situating the group sessions in an environment where the

respondents usually spend time arose and thus seemed like a good idea. The spatial arrangement of the conversation space affects the group dynamic and needs to be considered in the planning of the sessions. These sessions were done with the group members sitting on opposite sides of a rectangular table with the moderator sitting on the short side.

3.4 Semi-structured interview with municipality officials

Semi-structured interviews with appropriate municipal officials were performed in order to study the municipal management of the elderly's health risk in the context of the 2018 summer heat wave. The aim of a semi-structured interview is to acquire answers to certain questions, but in a flexible interview process where the respondent is allowed to develop her/his answers (Denscombe, 2018). Thus, it is appropriate when the researcher seeks to generate detailed answers to questions (Denscombe, 2018). The interview procedure for the interviews conducted for this study followed an interview guide (see appendix 2) which was more of a checklist than of a chronological procedure. The questions were constructed to reflect the research questions and to allow for the respondents to speak as freely as possible. It should be noted that the concepts relating to climate change adaptation cannot be expected to reside in the ordinary vocabulary, why measures to handle for example heat stress rendered by climate change is not necessarily labelled this way by municipality officials (Cornes & Cook, 2018). Thus, in order to make the questions easily graspable, it was attempted to use as "ordinary" a vocabulary as possible. As with focus groups, the interview methodology is concerned with the interviewer effect described in 3.3 (Denscombe, 2018). In this case, the interviews are complementary to a document analysis, and not of a particularly sensitive nature, and thus the interviewer effect should not be a major problem.

The semi-structured interviews were conducted with municipality officials identified through a "subjective selection" (Denscombe, 2018) that started off with the help of a "gatekeeper" - the climate strategist of the municipality. Key individuals with knowledge of the municipal management of heat generated health risk to elderly was identified. While conducting the interviews, the selection was expanded per a snowball-effect (Bryman, 2016), and finally led to a total of nine interviews.

3.5 Document analysis

In order to complement the interviews, the study has also made use of a number of documents that provide information on the issues in focus. These consist mainly

of official documents that provide insight in the municipal adaptational strategies and will thus be helpful in answering the research questions. Generally, official documents are regarded as being unbiased and trustworthy, thus making out valuable research data (Denscombe, 2018).

The documents were selected on recommendation from the municipal officials that was interviewed for the study.

3.6 Material

The focus group participants have in common their membership in this senior organization, living in Trelleborg, as well as being over 65 years old. That said, there is also a heterogeneity within the groups. The participants live in houses as well as apartments. An array of medical conditions is represented amongst the participants. Amongst them heart (heart failure), skin (cancer), and lung (asthma) diseases. In addition, the age span covers ages between 69 and 80. Beyond the intended implications for group compatibility described in 3.3, the choice of recruiting elderly from within an organization will have had implications for the material of the study. Elderly individuals that are engaged in civil society will for example be lonely to a lesser extent than individuals not engaged in civil society. As a consequence, the sample might exclude lonely individuals that are known to be extra susceptible to risk of mortality and morbidity due to heat exposure (Folkhälsomyndigheten, 2015; Klinenberg, 2002). On the other hand, elderly people are generally vulnerable to heat, and thus every single elderly individual can make important contributions to such a discussion. Also, any important aspects of the issue rendered from the focus group sessions should at least partially be transferable to the elderly population as a whole.

The nine interviews that was conducted covers different angles of the issues in question. With the exception of a health care worker, the respondents are working at the strategic levels in the municipality, and thus not on the operative level. This was thought of as appropriate in order to investigate the strategic management of heat but might be considered as a weakness of the study as a stronger focus on the operative level likely would have improved the overall insight on the topic. That said, the interviewees were selected on advice from the climate strategist of the municipality and are thus likely make out the most relevant information with regards to strategic managing of heat.

The six documents make out the written official documents that are strategically relevant to managing health risks from extreme heat. Consequently, they make out relevant documents to study strategic measures. These are; the Climate adaptation plan for Trelleborg (Trelleborgs kommun, 2018c); the Trelleborg plan for heat waves (Trelleborgs kommun, 2018a); General advice to elderly and their relatives (Trelleborgs kommun, 2018e); The Contingency plan for heat waves (Malmberg et al., 2014); The Comprehensive plan for Trelleborg

(Trelleborgs kommun, 2018b); and the Detailed comprehensive plan for the city of Trelleborg (Trelleborgs kommun, 2014).

The data-collection resulted in the qualitative material outlined in table 2 below. The accounting of quotes and excerpts throughout the presentation of the results is meant to be illustrative of the main patterns in the empirical material, and thus not to be exhaustive.

Table 2 Summary of main material

Table 2 Summary of main material			
Elderly			
Method	Participants gender/age	Details	
Focus group	Female: 71, 75, 80 Male: 80, 70	70 minutes	
Focus group	Female: 68, 74, 74, 81 Male: 69, 73	60 minutes	
Focus group	Female: 67, 69, 71, 86 Male: 73	60 minutes	
	Municipality		
Interview	Head of emergency services	30 minutes	
Interview	Security manager	30 minutes	
Interview	Public health strategist (region)	Phone, 60 minutes	
Interview	Climate strategist	Phone, 30 minutes	
Interview	2 environmental inspectors	45 minutes	
Interview	Health care worker	15 minutes	
Interview	Chief of elderly care	30 minutes	
Interview (email)	Public health strategist (local)	-	
Interview (email)	Spatial planner	-	
Document	Trelleborg adaptation plan	-	
Document	Trelleborg plan for heat waves	-	
Document	General advice to elderly and their relatives	-	

	The contingency plan	
Document	and warning system	-
	for heat waves	
Dogwood	The comprehensive	
Document	plan for Trelleborg	-
	The detailed	
Dogument	comprehensive plan	
Document	for the city of	-
	Trelleborg	

3.7 Analytical approach

The analysis was conceived through elaboration of the empirical material in relation to the theoretical framework, as per the interplay described in section 3.2. This was done through multiple readings of the material during which relevant quotes and excerpts were coded and clustered according to recurrent and relevant themes, adaptation activities and interactions (Bryman, 2016). Regarding the elderly's perceptions the emerging themes were; conflicting feelings, concerns of climate change, vulnerable but not vulnerable; and no escape from the heat. Coping strategies / management of heat were categorized according to the adaptation activities outlined in section 2.1; hazard reduction/avoidance; vulnerability reduction, preparedness for response, preparedness for recovery; and risk assessment. Moreover, the adaptation activities showed a differentiation between two groups of elderly (within/outside of the elderly care system) that became a relevant factor in the discussion. Adaptation interactions were categorized according to the concepts explained in section 2.2; collaboration; compliance; contestation; and choice. However, all of the adaptation activities / interactions were not represented in the empirical material and are therefore not assigned their own sections.

Technically, the analysis was accomplished with the aid of the software tool NVivo 12, in which the empirical material was inserted and coded.

3.8 Ethical considerations

This study addressed individuals identified on the basis of their vulnerability to heat stress, which created some ethical problems. Firstly, it might feel offensive to the individual to be exposed as vulnerable, and secondly, the vulnerability of these individuals may be previously unknown to them. However, the wider aim of the study was to strengthen these people's defence against future crises and through a cautionary approach this purpose should outweigh these ethical problems. In order

to protect the individuals, the Science Council's four research ethics principles - the information requirement, the consent requirement, the requirement for confidentiality and the requirement for use, was applied during the research process (Vetenskapsrådet, 2002). This essentially means that the purpose and conditions were made clear to all participants, including their ability to interrupt their participation if and when they so wish. It also means that the study will rest on their consent and the assurance that the empirical were used only to fulfil the purpose of the study (see appendix 1).

4 The elderly's perception of the summer of 2018

This chapter of the analysis addresses research question 1: How was the hot weather during the summer of 2018 perceived by the elderly population in Trelleborg, in terms of its health risks? The chapter is structured based on recurring parts of the empirical material generated from the focus groups which consists of four major themes; conflicting feelings (4.1); concerns of climate change (4.2); vulnerable but not vulnerable (4.3); and no escape from the heat (4.4). After running through the elderly's perceptions, the chapter ends with a discussion (4.5).

4.1 Conflicting feelings

In the foreground of the elderly's perceptions were conflicting feelings, mediating both a strong love for sunny weather but at the same time a fear of the impacts of the heat and its causal factors. This double-ness was evident between the elderly in the group as well as in the individuals themselves. There was a palpable reluctance amongst many of the participants to recognize the hot weather as a threat, although some did. For example, the summer was described as "healthwise difficult" (male, 81) and as "the *worst* summer I have experienced in terms heat" (female, 71). One participant explained the feeling of the heat as impairing her mind: "I think it feels like the brain is floating out somewhere else and I think that is very unpleasant." (Female, 74). Some were less decided in their verdict, describing the summer as "terribly warm, but nice as well" (Female, 74).

However, many of the elderly respondents described the summer of 2018 as being "absolutely wonderful" (female, 74) or "warm and comfortable" (female, 75). Explaining their statements, a 73-year-old male participant described how he enjoys heat: "I can lie well for fourteen days on the holiday under a palm. But I don't lie directly in the sun. But I want the heat". A 71-year-old female participant described the conflict in relation to the experience of the "ordinary" Swedish summer: "We want warmth, we open windows and say, 'finally it gets warm', and then it rains on midsummer. So, we have a completely different view of this." She went on to say that "To sit inside with drawn shutters in the summer, it feels odd

because you want to get out in the heat" thus touching on a conflict between adaptive behaviour and a wish to enjoy the unusually warm weather.

4.2 Concerns of climate change

Most of the focus group participants were concerned about the impacts of the heat as well as its causal factors and spoke of a "growing worry" for the future (Male, 80). The discussions in the focus groups were constantly shifting to the more conspicuous impacts of the warm weather, such as the forest fires in northern Sweden that dominated much of the media coverage of the abnormal temperatures, and a fear of what would happen if the landscapes surrounding Trelleborg would start burning. The polish fire-fighters that passed Trelleborg on the way to help extinguish the northern fires were brought up as a topic again and again. Concerns about ground water levels and dying gardens were also prevalent, as well as opinions on the temporary "barbeque ban" that was introduced by the county administration to reduce the risk of forest. There are also explicit mentions of climate anxiety. Particularly the female focus group participants were significantly concerned of the bigger issue of climate change of which they expressed great concern. For example, consider these quotes from a 74- and a 69-year-old female participant.

I also think that eventually it came, at least for me, this concern. "what is happening to the earth". I started to think big. What is really happening? Because it wasn't normal of course. There was a lot of concern that started coming the longer this heat progressed. Evenings were fantastic and enjoyed as well. (Female, 74)

I find it very worrying. I feel that extreme weather, it worries me. Where are we going? I have children and grandchildren. It does not feel good. These were my main reactions more than enjoying the weather. (Female, 69)

4.3 Vulnerable but not vulnerable

While the focus group participants thought of themselves as vulnerable to heat, they did not necessarily think of themselves as more vulnerable than others. Instead they generally seemed to exclude themselves through "othering" particularly vulnerable elderly people. These were referred to as "they" rather than "me". For example, a 74-year-old female participant stated that "[the heat] is

stressful for everyone with heart problems and such chronic diseases, many elderly people who have impaired immune system and are weak."

4.4 No escape from the heat

Rather than complaining about spikes in temperature, the main complaint about the direct experience of the warm weather was that it never seemed to end. As the days and nights went by, it continued all around the clock. The elderly described the situation with the heat as unpleasant particularly due to the fact that it was unescapable. Those not fortunate enough to have well air-conditioned homes or lukewarm cellar stories, described the heat as partially uncomfortable, rendering a more or less desperate need for a break of recovery. For example, an 80-year-old male provided this reflection:

In retrospect I think that what was most problematic was that you never got a break from the heat. Even though I lived in a stone house that was relatively better than what some others had, you still got no break and the days went by, the weeks went by. Then the desperation started to come:

"Should it never end?" That was how I experienced it.

4.5 Summary and discussion

The results show that the elderly's experiences of the summer were contradictory. The heat was perceived as comfortable and scary at the same time, but notably not so much in terms of a threat to their own health. The elderly's perceptions make out aspects of what is often referred to as risk perception, which is an important aspect as it might correlate adaptive behaviour. For example, there are studies suggesting that experiencing severe weather events increases the concern about climate change (Bergquist et al., 2019; Demski et al., 2017) ultimately leading to a higher perception of risk and thus also increases in adaptive behaviour (Akompab et al., 2013; Demski et al., 2017). The risk perception of vulnerable groups is also important since it will matter for what measures instances such as a municipality should focus on. As suggested for example by Akerlof et al. (2015), when risk awareness is high within a vulnerable group, interventions should shift focus from informational campaigns to protective actions (see also Kunz-Plapp et al., 2016). Hence, the perceptions of the elderly are likely to influence the way they cope with / manage the health risks that comes with extreme heat events as well as inform the design of adaptational measures on the municipal level.

It seems clear that the summer in question has led the elderly to discover the fragility of their society and that issues such as forest fires, ground water levels, and climate change are much more worrisome to them than the direct threats that

the heat poses to their own health and wellbeing. This echoes the findings of Akerlof et al. (2015), who found the same tendency in elderly people in London and Norwich, UK. The fact that the elderly do not view heat as a health risk to themselves, but maybe to other elderly, supports the findings of previous studies (K. L. Akerlof et al., 2015; Bittner & Stossel, 2012). This tendency might be attributed to difficulties in recognizing heat as the causal factor of death, which is the reason why it is often described as a "silent killer" (Gupta et al., 2012; Luber & McGeehin, 2008). Whether or not the elderly's concerns of climate change are attributable to the direct experience of the warm summer of 2018 is not clear, as the awareness of climate change and its effects remain generally high in Sweden overall (Poortinga et al., 2018), and the media coverage increased significantly in 2018, supposedly as a consequence of the warm summer and the influence of a certain Great Thunberg (Retriever, 2019).

The finding that the elderly are moving back and forth between enjoying the weather and worrying about it corroborates what is described in an article in the local newspaper (S. Bergström, 2018). This tendency might be understandable for a couple of reasons. Obviously, there is the cultural aspect that Swedes spend significant amounts of money and time on vacation trips to such places as the Mediterranean, why it might seem like a luxury to get that weather at home instead. The interview with the regional health strategist suggested that this might tamper the efforts to inform the citizens of the health risks due to heat exposure:

It is a little difficult to communicate because the general picture in Sweden is that warmth, it is something that we long for, and you always get happy, you see if nothing else in the newspaper runs "finally the summer heat here" and all that it called. Even on the TV news, one always speaks very positively about heat. (regional health strategist)

As measures to stay safe from heat often regards staying out of it, it makes this cultural aspect an issue. Such cultural aspects are known to influence risk perceptions (Weber & Hsee, 1999). Another possible explanation to why elderly enjoys warm weather is that, due to phenomena such as decreases in the metabolic rate and the thinning of skin that comes with age, elderly people are often sensitive to cold (Guergova & Dufour, 2011).

The unescapable character described by the elderly in relation to the heat wave corroborates results by the Public health authority (J. Bergström et al., 2018). The constantly present character of heat distinguishes it from other kinds of climate related events. A landslide for example, or a heavy downpour of rain, are escapable in the sense that they have a more local character. With a heat wave, moving away might be more problematic, or dependent on the access to an airconditioned area. Such areas are not available to everyone.

5 Coping strategies by the elderly

This chapter of the analysis addresses research question 2: *How did the elderly population of Trelleborg cope with the hot weather during the summer of 2018?* The chapter is structured based on recurring parts of the empirical material generated from the focus groups which consists of four major themes; creating a different rhythm of life; amending food and drinks; seeking shade and; being passive. After running through the measures taken by the elderly, the chapter ends with a discussion and a summary of the measures structured in a table and categorized according to the analytical framework based on Wamsler (2014).

5.1 Creating a different rhythm of life

A recurring theme during the discussions was the mentioning of a more southern lifestyle as a reference to how summer-life during 2018 differed in relation to "ordinary" summers. The elderly explained how they adapted a Mediterranean lifestyle of siesta naps during the day and stayed up later in than usual in the evenings.

The schedule was different. The mornings were so lovely that you got so early mornings. And evenings and nights were wonderful. I lived a bit of Spanish life, with siesta. Even if you did not sleep, you withdrew and rested. (Female, 81)

You could not do anything in the middle of the day. You got to do things in the evenings instead. It became a different rhythm of life than one normally expects, with interventions that one did not choose for himself, but which the weather forced upon you. (Female, 69)

5.2 Amending food and drinks

In the same vein the elderly modified their food and drink intake that included a lot more water, but some also mentioned eating salty things such as olives or Mediterranean salad in order to stay healthy. A 71-year-old female participant explained the need to drink water with reference to a hospitalized friend:

I have a neighbour who went to hospital because she had been drinking too little, and another friend had the same thing. So, it is also that one has to make sure that one gets enough liquid. But it belongs to the heat and it is like we ... yes, we should drink.

5.3 Seeking shade

Generally, many mentioned how they tried to stay in the shade as much as possible as well as delaying visits in air-conditioned places such as shopping malls or the car.

You were looking for shade all the time. One kept track of the shadows. Where you could sit in the shade, so that was where you sat. Otherwise, it is the opposite, like "where is the sun?" Now it was the shadow (Female, 81)

For my part, it was incredibly hot, but I live on the seventh floor and I could not be upstairs in the apartment. One had to go down and sit outside in the shade. (Female, 86)

5.4 Being passive

The elderly makes witness of losing all their energy, causing very passive days where ordinary things such as shopping for groceries become obstacles. "One couldn't cope with everyday life", a 75-year-old female said and explained that as opposed as when you are on vacation and you can just relax, it's special to experience the heat in the daily life because in the daily life you have things to take care about. Thus, exposing another difficulty for elderly people. The summer also created an asocial behaviour with some of the elderly, who cancelled trips, avoided travel, became passive and spent time in the least warm place they could find.

I also think that I abstained from a lot. "No today it is too hot then I have to stay at home". Sit on the terrace. I did that. Refrained from much, traveling and such things. (Female, 74)

You didn't get much done. Everything stood still, which was the most necessary. The effects still remain. (Male, 70)

5.5 Summary & Discussion

The coping strategies of the elderly are outlined in table 3. As a logical sequence to their low risk perceptions, they are exclusively ad hoc, namely, taken in response to the hazard when it occurred (Wamsler, 2014). As such, they all fall in the category of vulnerability reduction, and all but one strategy is labelled as a behavioural measure. Such measures are arguably "simple, immediate and costeffective way[s] of addressing certain issues" and should therefore not be underestimated (Hendel et al., 2017). Most of the elderly agree with statements such as "this summer has never happened before", which probably explains why proactive coping strategies cannot be expected to have occurred, at least not on the initiative of the elderly. That said, while the coping strategies of the elderly were not labelled as such by the elderly themselves, the summer had a fundamental influence on the daily lives of the respondents. It affected their movements, their food intake, their sleep and their social life. These strategies appear as unreflected and spontaneous reactions to discomfort brought on by the hot weather rather than deliberate actions rendered by a high awareness of health risk. Neither did it seem to have been brought on by specific information campaigns. As it was expressed by one of the focus group participants:

[...] it was nothing that you had prepared for by thinking "this summer we should have this". It was resolved gradually. (Male, 69)

Such seemingly commonsensical management is significant in reducing health risks (Cornes & Cook, 2018). As are the positive effects of for example delaying bedtime (Hendel et al., 2017). Therefore, the strategies should not be underestimated as banal, but understood as highly relevant.

Some of the elderly were, with the summer of 2018 in fresh memory, considering proactive measures for the future. For example, as in following quote by an 86-year-old female participant: "One must think in advance now and prepare. Because there is no end to this."

Table 3 Coping strategies by the elderly

Activity	Measure	Туре
Hazard-reduction & avoidance	-	-
Vulnerability reduction	Drink	Behavioural
Vulnerability reduction	Keep water bottle in sight (so not to forget to drink)	Behavioural
Vulnerability reduction	Wear hat	Behavioural

Vulnerability reduction	Close curtains / sun blinds	Behavioural
Vulnerability reduction	Bring water bottles outside	Behavioural
Vulnerability reduction	Drink rehydration drinks (resorb, with salt/lemon)	Behavioural
Vulnerability reduction	Siesta	Behavioural
Vulnerability reduction	Eat salty things	Behavioural
Vulnerability reduction	Stay inside	Behavioural
Vulnerability reduction	Do nothing	Behavioural
Vulnerability reduction	Seek out and spend time in air- conditioned places (car or mall)	Behavioural
Vulnerability reduction	Avoid travel	Behavioural
Vulnerability reduction	Obtain fan	Grey
Preparedness for response	-	-
Preparedness for recovery	-	-

6 Measures by the municipality

This chapter of the analysis addresses research question 3: How does the municipality of Trelleborg strategically manage the health risks to its elderly population due to heat exposure? The chapter begins with an account of the relevant content in the climate adaptation plan of the municipality (6.1), which is followed by the actual measures structured based on the adaptational activities previously outlined in section 2.1; risk assessment (6.2); preparedness for response (6.3), and vulnerability reduction (6.4). After running through the strategical measures taken by the municipality, the chapter ends with a discussion and a summary (6.5).

6.1 Heat in the climate adaptation plan

The 2018 Climate adaptation plan for Trelleborg (Trelleborgs kommun, 2018c) is neither legally binding nor an operational manual, but rather an expression of ambition and will. Thus, it is not a measure in itself. The list of suggested adaptational measures is dense, containing a lot of ambition, much of which are directly related to the health risk to its citizens due to heat exposure. For example, it stresses the need for working on communication towards the citizens during hazards by improving the communicative quality of the municipality website as well as updating the systems for how the municipality can spread information on nature-related events. It points to a number of measures on the topic of cooling buildings, including; providing economic aid to home owners to install ventilation; expansion of district cooling; new municipal properties being built with the buildings cooling properties in mind; creating an inventory of buildings with regard to their cooling properties; and observing the need for cooling when remodelling housing. City planning is underlined through proposed measures including; the introduction of adaptational aspects in overview and detail plans and the creation of shady environments through for example the conservation and planting of new trees. The Climate adaptation plan also lists some measures that has been implemented since the last adaptation plan, most of which are responses to hydrological effects of climate change such as sea level rise and increased rainfall. The implemented measures that touch upon the topic of the direct health threat of heat waves, are "Review of properties with regard to how an increased cooling requirement can be met with reduced energy use", "Warning system for heat waves" and "Checklist for heat waves". The Climate adaptation plan also notes that the contingency plan for heat waves should continue to be implemented.

6.2 Risk assessment

The security department of Trelleborg conducts a risk and vulnerability analysis, which is the fundamental to the work of mitigating risks, as it points out where to focus (interview, Security manager). The analysis is however classified, why it can't be analysed here. However, it is categorized as a "risk assessment" activity (Wamsler, 2014).

6.3 Preparedness for response

The Trelleborg plan for heat waves (Trelleborgs kommun, 2018a) is the centrepiece of the security departments work on mitigating the health risks due to heat exposure (interview, security manager), highly influenced by the rich material provided by the regional council (Malmberg et al., 2014). One of the opening statements in the plan reads:

In order to get a good readiness for and management of heat waves, we need to change the view of heat wave as a crisis that rarely occurs to instead get the readiness for heat waves in the annual cycle of seasonal events, like the fact that we know that the flu, winter sickle sickness comes every winter and that healthcare facilities, as well as the public, are prepared for their management.

This introduction is obviously a textbook case of how to mainstream climate change adaptation. It identifies the elderly population as a particularly vulnerable group, which is targeted throughout the contents of the plan. There are two themes to the contents; partially it is made up of information and tools to personnel and bosses within the elderly care system, and partially it concerns various aspects of the spreading of information to all citizens.

It points to five examples of information to the citizens; weather warning for heat wave; general advice on heat waves; information about risk-groups; advice to the vulnerable themselves; advice on food intake during heat wave. Following this, the heat wave plan outlines a number of channels through which information can be communicated, including; the municipality website; social media; the municipal information function; the municipal information centre; the media; press releases; and press conferences. Furthermore, the heat wave plan lists appropriate preparations for the spreading of information; including checklists in electronic and printed form; specific information to private care actors; and the use of meeting points for elderly people for information spreading. The plan

emphasizes information and suggests four groups as recipients; personnel within the municipality; the vulnerable themselves and their relatives; volunteers with contacts with risk groups; and house owners.

Most of the measures in the heat wave plan, however, regards the elderly care system, actualizing collaboration with the social department, which is the department responsible for handling the elderly care system. The heat wave plan is aiming a lot of its information towards the managers of the different units of elderly care, calling on these to hold preparational meetings with the staff, providing them with the information. When the summer is approaching, the personnel should identify vulnerable individuals and buildings, be ready to reprioritize efforts, inform the vulnerable individuals and their relatives and establish plans for how to care for the most vulnerable individuals if an extreme heat event occurs. The operational personnel within retirement homes and home care should; pay attention to the indoor temperature; encourage fluid-intake; use curtains and such tools to arrange a cool environment and put the elderly personnel where the environment is as coolest; encourage reduced physical activity during the hottest hours of the day; use cooling measures such as cold showers or wet towels; pay attention to the general condition of individuals and call on nurses if something seems off. The heat wave plan includes checklist to help the staff to monitor certain vulnerable individuals by identifying them prior to the summer and following them to ensure their safety. The security manager explains that:

[I]t is a question of identifying who we have that can be sensitive to high temperatures, so that you know how to help them as well. You give them a list: have you drunk? Where are you in your home? Are you in the cool rooms? [...] So, there are plans for it. What to think about.

However, according to the chief of elderly care, in order to handle hazards such as heat waves, monitoring those living in retirement homes are easier than those receiving elderly care in their homes. Those elderly receiving care in their homes are subject to what the chief of elderly care refer to as "traditional advice" such as the care personnel encouraging them to drink and help out to provide shade from the sun by pulling down curtains and such things, through visits in their homes 2-3 times a day. In the retirement homes on the other hand, the conditions are different, because the personnel are present all the time. On the other hand, the elderly living in retirement homes are generally in worse condition and require more help. The conditions also vary between retirement homes, as they are housed in different types of buildings constructed to house different type of activities.

General advice to elderly and their relatives (Trelleborgs kommun, 2018e) is a document published on the Trelleborg website, basically made up of "traditional advice". It is referred to when heat warnings are published.

The contingency plan and warning system for heat waves (Malmberg et al., 2014) is document produced within the frame of the regional project Klimatsamverkan Skåne to provide information on how to handle heat waves,

with big emphasis on health care and health risks to elderly. It functions as an extensive knowledge base and has much in common with the heat wave plan.

Central to the heat wave preparedness of Trelleborg is the national weather warning system, which is provided by the Swedish meteorological institute (SMHI) (Interview, security manager). In order to help society prepare for potentially dangerous heat, SMHI issues two different classes of heat warnings; a class one heat warning is issued when the temperature is expected to reach at least 30 degrees Celsius three days in a row; a class 2 heat warning is issued when following a class 1 if the temperature is expected to reach at least 30 degrees five days in a row, or if temperatures above 33 degrees is expected three days In a row (MSB, 2018). These warnings work as to activate the measures in the heat wave plan, such as the spreading of information, and thus make out a central part of the heat wave preparedness. The 24th of July, the Swedish meteorological institute (SMHI) issued a class 1 warning concerning "very high temperatures" in Scania, which was published on the Trelleborg website as a warning of heat (Trelleborgs kommun, 2018d).

6.4 Vulnerability reduction?

In regard of climate adaptation, issues connected to rising sea levels figure prominently in the comprehensive plan (Trelleborgs kommun, 2018b), and the related detailed comprehensive plan for the city of Trelleborg (Trelleborgs kommun, 2014). However, any mention of heat related climate change adaptation issues is absent in both documents.

6.5 Summary & Discussion

The Climate adaptation plan lists a large range of potential measures relating to the mitigation of heat related risk to elderly, and it is therefore obvious that adaptational work is not short of ideas. However, while indicating ambition, ideas and know-how are as most meaningful when implemented, and as of now most of these measures remain good ideas on paper (interview, Climate strategist).

The measures to counter health threats from heat is outlined in table 4. It is made up of measures categorized as "preparedness for response" (Wamsler, 2014). Neither the degree of flexibility nor inclusiveness of adaptational measures to counter health risks from heat is therefore high. There is room particularly for green and grey measures of hazard reduction/avoidance and vulnerability reduction. "Preparedness for recovery" is not a relevant activity with regard to the characteristics of adverse health effects of heat. There are multiple potential reasons for a city not being successful in implementing sufficient adaptational measures. For example, infrastructure, economy and institutional structures

influence capacity (Carmin et al., 2012; McCarthy et al., 2001). An internal document on the progress of climate change adaptation in Trelleborg from 2014, lists a number of success factors, amongst which aspects such as political will, ambition from the level of the town council and engaged co-workers and department heads and insufficient mainstreaming in the municipality (Ljung, 2014). Difficulties of wide implementation of adaptation has also be attributed to insufficient national work (Juhola & Westerhoff, 2011). Reflecting on the summer of 2018, the regional health strategist says that it "confirmed what we have warned about". In contrast to that comment, some of the municipal officials use expressions like "caught off guard" to describe their feelings towards the summer of 2018. That response is probably at least partially due to the diffuseness of climate change which is more often than not a phenomenon perceived as "abstract, large scale [and] slow" (Bergquist et al., 2019), and how that diffuseness suddenly became reality. Additionally, the largest risks and struggles regarding the health of elderly has previously taken place during the colder seasons of the year (interview, Chief of emergency services; interview, Chief of elderly care). It is probably reasonable to assume that several of these aspects negatively influence the possibility of implementing the full range of adaptational measures. Certainly, the economic aspect is likely significant, as confirmed by the regional health strategist.

In regard of the municipal measures to counter health risk to elderly population from heat, the empirical material shows that the measures are heavily biased towards preparedness for response through behavioural measures such as information and contingency plans for the elderly care system. As the most ambitious measures of are aimed at the latter, the municipality consequently fundamentally differentiates between two groups of elderly: those receiving some form of elderly care (living in retirement homes or receiving home care) and those elderly that are not.

Naturally, the elderly care system has a well-developed system of interactions between the elderly and the care-workers, which can be adjusted to include measures to counter health risk from heat (or other hazards for that matter). Such measures are supported as relevant in the literature (Andersson et al., 2012; Fernandez Milan & Creutzig, 2015). As we have seen, monitoring of vulnerable elderly individuals in the elderly care system is a part of Trelleborgs heat wave plan. The heat wave plan contains multiple behavioural and informational measures to be applied both proactively and reactively. It is important to mention that there are significant differences within the elderly care system as well. The elderly people living in retirement homes are not as autonomous as elderly living at home, they generally do not make choices to the same extent which provides a significantly different condition for working to mitigate their health risk due to heat stress (Interview, Chief of elderly care). The monitoring of vulnerable individuals particularly stands out amongst the measures. The low amount of "deaths" in retirement homes of Trelleborg last summer, could indicate that these measures are active and successful (Interview, chief of elderly care). The role of the social care sector is generally considered of vital importance when it comes to managing the health risks brought on by heat, with interventions that often prove

highly effective in protecting citizens (Fernandez Milan & Creutzig, 2015; Jonsson & Lundgren, 2015). However, with respect to the hard-working personnel of the elderly care system¹, structural implementation of "the traditional advice" might be considered low hanging fruits.

Most of the elderly population outside the elderly care system can be expected to interact with the health care system at least on an occasional basis. When they do it is clear that the regional health care actor Skåne regional council provides a range of measures to support the health care system to counter the health threats of heat, in the context of climate change. Such ambitions is reflected in an array of projects carried out within the frame of Klimatsamverkan Skåne (Malmberg et al., 2014).

Thus, for the part of the elderly population not within the elderly care system, the primary instrument of proactive measures is information in various shapes and forms. Information is, particularly with respect to the relation between risk awareness and adaptive behaviour, an important way of protecting citizens (Bittner & Stossel, 2012; Folkhälsomyndigheten, 2015; Pisello et al., 2017), which is also often welcomed by the vulnerable themselves (Abrahamson et al., 2009). Though, as suggested by Rhoades (2016) study, it should be carefully designed to meet the needs and preferences of the elderly population. Nationally, a survey found that 97 percent of the population thought that heat wave information was easily accessible during the summer of 2018, which is a convincing number (J. Bergström et al., 2018).

The literature widely shows that the health risks due to heat exposure for elderly are exacerbated by physiological factors such as pre-existing health conditions, particularly cardiovascular and respiratory diseases (Astrom et al., 2011; Åstrom et al., 2013), physical factors such as living on the top floor (Semenza et al., 1996) and social factors such as loneliness (Canoui-Poitrine et al., 2006; Jonsson & Lundgren, 2015; Klinenberg, 2002). However, none of these factors automatically qualify an elderly individual to the elderly care system. For example, a heart disease that makes an elderly particularly vulnerable to heat does not automatically qualify this person to the elderly care system. Moreover, due to the fact that the thermoregulatory and physiologic heat-adaptation ability deteriorates with age (Khosla & Guntupalli, 1999), the elderly, particularly those whose age exceeds 75, is generally susceptible to heat. Consequently, particularly vulnerable persons can be left without the monitoring and extra help that they would need in the case of another summer like 2018. On the other hand, studies

¹ The care-system is dealing with proactive as well as reactive aspects of climate related hazards, and thus, the personnel that works with the vulnerable individuals of society is also suffering from the indirect risk of an increasingly tense situation, which should furthermore be understood within the context of a social care system already under pressure from deficits of finance (Jonsson & Lundgren, 2015).

support the notion that people in need of home services indeed are the *most* vulnerable (Semenza et al., 1996). Limited means could probably excuse such distortion, since it often argued that it is accurate to target the most vulnerable (Jonsson & Lundgren, 2015; Mees et al., 2015). However, adaptation interventions does not always come at an extra cost, particularly not when accounting for avoided harm to infrastructure and citizens (Watkiss, 2007).

Lastly, the summer might have brought a momentum for climate change adaptation. Like the elderly in the focus groups, the city officials mention how the summer has raised their personal awareness of how vulnerable society seems to be in the face of climate-related hazards, as in this quote by the chief of the elderly care in Trelleborg: "You notice fluctuations in the climate in a way that makes you discover how incredibly vulnerable we are". A number of projects are also in the pipeline, for example a green plan, and a detailed comprehensive plan for the city of Trelleborg (interview, City planner; Climate strategist). These are expected to further integrate climate change adaptation, and the issue of heat waves specifically.

Table 4 Measures by the municipality

Activity	Measure	Туре
Hazard-reduction & avoidance	-	-
Vulnerability reduction	-	-
Preparedness for response	Warning system	Grey
Preparedness for response	General advice to elderly and their relatives	Behavioural
Preparedness for response	Heat wave plan	Behavioural
Preparedness for response	Contingency plan and warning system for heat waves	Behavioural
Preparedness for recovery	-	-
Risk assessment	Risk-vulnerability analysis	-

7 Elderly-municipality interactions

This chapter of the analysis addresses research question 4: *How does the elderly population and the municipality of Trelleborg interact on mitigating the health risks to elderly due to heat exposure?* The chapter begins with an account of the relevant content in the climate adaptation plan of the municipality (7.1), which is followed by the interactions structured according to the categories outlined in 3.2; collaboration (7.2); and compliance and choice (7.3). After running through the interactions, the chapter ends with a discussion and a summary (7.4).

7.1 Notes on citizen participation in the climate adaptation plan

The need of involving citizens in enhancing climate change adaptation of the municipality is underlined throughout the Climate adaptation plan (Trelleborgs kommun, 2018c), which specifically mentions the importance of citizen participation. It lists a number of measures on this topic, for example the establishment of a communication plan for how the municipality can engage in dialogue with the local residents on adaptation issues and the creation of a forum where citizens can submit ideas about which climate adaptation measures that are needed according to their experience. It also lists a number of measures aiming to help citizens through counselling. For example, through; establishing advice on climate adaptation; continuous information dissemination with local residents and; energy counselling being expanded with advice on measures to cope with cooling in an energy-efficient manner. However, despite being in the pipeline, such interventions have not materialized as of yet (interview, Climate strategist).

7.2 Collaboration

A citizen-municipality collaboration on the topic of indoor temperature is made possible by the environmental law, which is enforced by the environmental inspectors at the civil administration. The environmental inspectors are responsible for implementing environmental law according to the Swedish environmental code through oversight, which is done either through oversight projects or as response to complaints. Thus, elderly complaining on temperatures can make out a collaborative interaction between the municipality and elderly.

The summer of 2018 registered one complaint from an elderly citizen regarding high indoor temperature (interview, Environmental inspectors).

There are recommended values regarding indoor temperatures – between 20-23 degrees Celsius – with which house owners must comply, or they might be sued for "inconvenience to human health" (Socialstyrelsen, 2005). However, "reasonability assessments" (Söderqvist et al., 2015) makes it is hard if not impossible to enforce demands of a good thermal indoor environment during extreme weather events as such demands would be deemed excessive in terms of the economic investments needed (interview, Environmental inspectors). Thus, the Swedish environmental code is basically toothless when it comes to spur reactive measures to counter extreme heat. However, although much of the work is based on complaints coming in to the department, as suggested by the informants of the study, a proactive drive towards house owners could be made through an oversight project.

7.3 Compliance & choice

General advice to elderly and their relatives (Trelleborgs kommun, 2018e), and other similar informational measures outlined in chapter 6 make out a citizen-municipality interaction on the topic of mitigating health risks of heat. As this interaction is merely made up of recommendations, and thus is not mandatory, it is categorized as "choice".

The measures aimed at keeping the elderly within the elderly care system cool makes out adaptation interactions. For example, when personnel urge the elderly to drink more or to stay in the cooler parts of their living spaces. Due to varying degrees of autonomy among the elderly within the elderly care system, these interactions can appropriately be categorized both as compliance and as choice (interview, Chief of elderly care).

7.4 Discussion

Three types of interactions were identified in the study: compliance, choice and collaboration. That the adaptation interactions were so few should be understood in relation to the delimited risk context addressed in the study (health risks to elderly citizens due to heat exposure). Moreover, it can be understood as a consequence of insufficient means of the municipality, which is confirmed by the regional health strategist. The resource aspect is significant and there are not enough resources to be in contact with the elderly population on these issues (Interview, regional health strategist).

The results show that while ideas of including the citizens of Trelleborg in the management of health risks of heat are on paper, they have not been implemented as of yet. In that sense, the findings are well in line with the conclusions of previous studies (Brink & Wamsler, 2018; Fagan-Watson & Burchell, 2016). It does seem however that there is a potential to further collaborative interactions within the frame of already established interaction-points: the discussion club of the elderly organization and the elderly days.

8 Increasing the resilience of the elderly to heat waves

This chapter of the analysis addresses research question 5: With respect to the answers of questions 1-4, how can the municipality of Trelleborg improve the flexibility of its adaptational measures regarding health risks to elderly? The chapter makes use of the results previously accounted for in chapters three to six as well as additional material in order to elaborate on suggestions that might further strengthen the heat wave adaptation. The chapter is structured based on the suggested measure and related adaptation activity; hazard avoidance/reduction through urban heat island mapping (8.1); preparedness for response through heat escape/evacuation (8.2); vulnerability reduction through urban planning (8.3) preparedness for response through enhanced communication (8.4); and citizen participation (8.5). It ends with a summary (8.6).

8.1 hazard avoidance/reduction through urban heat island mapping

Measures that lead to avoidance or reduction of heat-related hazards were absent from the measures of the municipality. One question is how can a municipality accomplish avoidance or reduction of heatwaves? Climate change mitigation is a form of hazard reduction that might seem very abstract due to the geographical and temporal scale it works on. However, due to it being more of a local phenomenon, the urban heat island effect might be more conceivable, but still highly relevant as a target (Li & Bou-Zeid, 2013). The urban heat island might be reduced through modification of the factors causing it (i.e. by transforming the activities and materials dominating cities). Another form of hazard avoidance would be to avoid the urban heat island itself, as suggested by Malmberg et al. (2014). There is the possibility of using models that map geographical variations in the intensity of urban heat island of cities, which presumably could be used in order to dissuade elderly citizens of moving into the hottest areas of cities, thus realizing a measure of "hazard avoidance" (interview, Regional health strategist). According to the regional health strategist, urban heat island-mapping could inform recommendations on what parts of the municipality susceptible citizens, such as the elderly, should not live.

8.2 Preparedness for response through heat escape/evacuation

As previously noted, one of the elderly's main concerns regarding the summer was that they never got any break from the heat, which was inescapable and seemed never ending. According to their own accounts, breaks from the heat were significant for their well-being. Those who could, used cool places such as cellars, cars or shopping malls to get that break. With respect to such experiences as well as research on the topic (Luber & McGeehin, 2008; Semenza et al., 1996), vulnerability reduction through heat escape or evacuation, can be relevant to reduce heat induced mortality and morbidity. Helping the elderly escape the heat can be done either by controlling the temperatures in their home environment or by setting up well conditioned places where they can be evacuated to during extreme heat events.

Cooling the homes of susceptible individuals actualizes a number of potential approaches. Housing adjustment allowances, for example, could be used in order to heat-adapt apartments with curtains and temporary air conditioning systems (Regional health strategist). Putting more emphasis on inspections of the thermal condition of buildings is an option with regard to the environmental inspectors. Although we know that it is hard to demand buildings can uphold adequate air temperatures during extreme events. One idea discussed by an elderly in the focus-groups was to install air-conditioning in the bedroom only. Air-conditioning in a bedroom creates both a resort for hot spells during the day, as well as a comfortable space to spend the night in order to recover during a good night's sleep (Lee & Shaman, 2017). This might be an option which may be possible with reference to cost and energy intensity, which makes out significant obstacles to the air-condition solution (Brown & Walker, 2008). Instead of refurbishing or airconditioning whole buildings which is likely to equal to a large demand in energy, this might also be a good option in regard of climate mitigation, since energy production is associated with greenhouse gas emission (Gupta et al., 2012).

Establishing specific places to recover from hot weather is mentioned throughout the empirical material. The security manager made references to discussions made during the summer, when a deal of using empty rooms in a local mall was considered. Vacant premises could be set up to temporarily house elderly people in an area tailored to meet the specific need of elderly people (Rhoades, 2016). The regional health strategist also mentioned such organizational measures as desirable. Specific thresholds for heat evacuations has been calculated for Scania, and should occur when indoor temperature exceed 26 degrees Celsius (Malmberg et al., 2014).

8.3 Vulnerability reduction through urban planning

Urban planning is central to climate change adaptation. However, it works at an extended timeframe, which makes its effects less apparent and therefore less attractive to implement (Fernandez Milan & Creutzig, 2015). This might partially explain the lack of such measures in Trelleborg. Any mentioning of mitigating adverse effects of heat are absent in the major planning documents of the municipality (Trelleborgs kommun, 2014, 2018b) which are heavily biased towards hydrological issues such as sea-level rise and heavy rain. This is understandable due to the palpability of such threats in Scania and in a coastal city such as Trelleborg, which in a Swedish context is particularly exposed to sea-level rise (Hall et al., 2015). Concerns of water-related hazards are also arguably dominating the global adaptation discourse among planners (Carmin et al., 2012). That said, the flexibility of measures that reduces the vulnerability of citizens in Trelleborg against extreme heat events are needed to strengthen resilience.

Green measures should be implemented. Not least as they might mitigate the urban heat islands effect, and thus lead to hazard avoidance/reduction (Li & Bou-Zeid, 2013). More generally, green measures are often "multifunctional", as they work synergistically to tackle multiple problems (Hall et al., 2015). For example, the occurrence of trees and other green structures in a city can provide multiple benefits such as shade during heat waves, mitigation of water flows during heavy rains (Armson et al., 2013), reduction of carbon dioxide from the atmosphere (Besir & Cuce, 2018; Nowak et al., 2013) increased biodiversity (Mant et al., 2014), not to mention the cultural services of making cities more attractive for its citizens (Haase et al., 2014). The deployment of green roofs or facades are known to stabilize indoor climate and is therefore an option to implement in order to make buildings and its residents withstand heat waves in good health (Besir & Cuce, 2018). Green solutions not only carry such crossover potentials, but might also be the most economically sound option to manage climate change risks (Elmqvist et al., 2015). Thus, establishing a variety of green solutions, including trees, green facades and roofs, should be promoted by the municipality.

The elderly participants of the study point at some urban planning related measures that would increase their coping abilities, including; more shaded places to sit down and rest outside; deployment of drinking water fountains or; a more accessible coast where one could go in order to cool down in the sea. As one 74-year-old female participant says:

Then these extreme summers become more accessible so to speak. And it becomes an asset instead of something negative for us who are older if we can go down and walk in the shoreline. We can lower the temperature just because we go there in the water all the time along nature and feel the sea breeze. So, then we get the temperatures down.

8.4 Preparedness for response through enhanced communication

Information is considered as a key aspect of climate change adaptation, as small changes in behaviour can reduce associated risks (Semenza et al., 1996). For one thing, as suggested by this study, the health risks attributable to climate change is not necessarily well known among citizens (K. Akerlof et al., 2010; Stoutenborough et al., 2015). Making people recognize heat as a threat is therefore relevant in itself. This is supporting the focus on information in the heat wave plan. However, although the survey by the Public health authority shows that information was available (J. Bergström et al., 2018), the focus group participants of this study offered a somewhat different image. As previously underlined in section 4.3, they did not demonstrate a high degree of awareness regarding the risks to their own health. Nor did they mention receiving any information.

The chief of emergency services is humble before the fact that communication is of central importance and that some focus should be on letting the people that "who knows it best" deal with the issues (Interview, Chief of emergency services). Previous studies underline that that generic solutions runs the risk of excluding those that are most vulnerable (Jonsson & Lundgren, 2015; Mees et al., 2015), and that information to elderly should be distributed with close attention to the characteristics of the recipient (Rhoades, 2016). With respect to the phenomenon of a digital divide between elderly and young generations (Datta et al., 2019; Zambianchi et al., 2019), information on the municipality website or in social media might not be the best option. Drawing on the conversations of the focus groups study, the elderly seems to vouch for tv-ads rather than information on websites.

While monitoring of susceptible elderly people is being done within the elderly care system of Trelleborg, this study has previously argued that while being a strong measure, susceptible elderly individuals might be left out. Monitoring is a prominent feature in the heat action plan of France (Cadot et al., 2007). Here, variations of medical surveillance, or monitoring, of vulnerable individuals are thought of as effective to mitigate mortality and morbidity from extreme heat events (Cadot et al., 2007; Luber & McGeehin, 2008). Unlike the Trelleborg heat wave plan however, this medical surveillance is aimed at all individuals, rather than only those within the elderly care system. Such measures are brought up by the focus group participants themselves and seems broadly supported in this group. As opposed to the passive communication of putting up notes and ads, active communication, such as phone-calls or text-messages could underline the severity of the situation. One possibility is conducting "reverse 911:s" or a "sign-up drive[s]", as suggested by the elderly in the study by Rhoades (2016).

8.5 Citizen participation

The results of the study show that there are few citizen-municipality interactions on mitigating health risks due to heat exposure. Far from the "formal, ongoing relationships" on the topic or the co-production of heat wave plans suggested by Fagan-Watson and Burchell (2016). However, some potential, already existing structures for such interactions appear throughout the study. For example, discussion clubs are mentioned in the focus groups as well as on the security department (interview, Chief of emergency services).

Some of the focus group participants expressed a need of discussing climate related issues such as the topic of this thesis. They mentioned a discussion club under the direction of their organization that works like a forum for topics they choose. The discussion club continuously invite municipal officials from "all positions" to take part in discussions, where the members of the organization leave their opinions on certain topics. Though some of them expressed disbelief in the public administration as a system being capable of, or willing to, see to their needs. A 69-year-old male participant, for example, said that the response from the officials are good at the meetings, adding "but then what happens when this official leaves through the door, I don't know." A 74-year-old female participant says in the same vein that "You need to see concrete results otherwise you get tired. It doesn't seem to pay off or how to say".

The emergency services attends "elderly-days", using the meeting points of the Social Department (interview, Security manager). Although it has not been done so far, the emergency department see a possibility of using these meeting points to discuss heat related health risks or other climate adaptation related issues (Interview, Chief of emergency services).

Public participation in the planning process is required by, and regulated in, the Planning and Building Act (interview, Spatial planner). During the development of comprehensive and detailed development plans, citizens are invited to submit opinions on plan proposals. As such, the planning process is a possible interaction point where elderly people can collaborate with the municipality on the inclusion of heat mitigating elements in the plans.

Hence, there exists a number of interaction points, under the direction of the elderly as well as the municipality, that could be used in order to further a collaboration on adaptational issues. As previously stated, there are many potential benefits associated with public participation. Some of those, for example the creation of understanding around issues, are not directly reliant on any certain outcome but on the interaction itself. However, transforming public opinions into actual measures are likely to demand organizational efforts. However, emerging possibilities such as web-based participatory tools might make such organization easier to handle (Bojovic et al., 2015).

Increasing the awareness among the elderly population might increase the collaboration between elderly individuals, indirectly influencing "citizen to

citizen" knowledge transfer (Wamsler 2014:231), which is a way of communication that is popular among elderly citizens (Wicks, 2004)

8.6 Summary

The table below shows the results presented in 6.6 (in black) supplemented by the proposals of this chapter (in red).

Table 5 Heat wave measures including suggestions

Activity	Measure	Type
Hazard-reduction & avoidance	Urban heat island- mapping	Behavioural
Vulnerability reduction	Promote green roofs/facades	Green
Vulnerability reduction	Plant trees for shadowing	Green
Vulnerability reduction	Increase water fountains and places to sit in the city	Grey
Vulnerability reduction	Make the beach more accessible to the elderly	Grey/green
Preparedness for response	Warning system	Grey
Preparedness for response	General advice to elderly and their relatives	Behavioural
Preparedness for response	Contingency plan and warning system for heat waves	Behavioural
Preparedness for response	Heatwave plan	Behavioural
Preparedness for response	Distribute air- conditioners to vulnerable individuals at vulnerable sites	Grey
Preparedness for response	Sign-up drive for more immediate information distribution	Behavioural

Preparedness for recovery	-	-
Risk assessment	Risk-vulnerability analysis	Behavioural

9 Conclusions

How was the hot weather during the summer of 2018 perceived by the elderly population in Trelleborg, in terms of its health risks?

The empirical material shows that the health risks the elderly face due to heat exposure is not a primary concern to them. The focus groups participants demonstrate conflicting feelings towards the heat, which is perceived as comfortable and stressful at the same time. The concerns of the heat are however not directed towards the direct threat that the heat poses to their own health. Rather, it is directed towards the wider phenomenon of climate change, as well as the more palpable issues of the 2018th summer such as forest fires, water shortages and barbeque bans. There is also a reluctance towards recognizing heat as a threat, possibly grounded in a culturally rendered preference for warm weather. This indicates a risk perception that is not entirely in line with the actual health risks, thus suggesting a need to increase awareness on an issue that is poised to grow in the future.

How did the elderly population of Trelleborg cope with the hot weather during the summer of 2018?

In line with their risk perceptions, the elderly had not taken too many measures to counter the threat to their health. At least not proactively. However, it is clear that the heat fundamentally affected their lives during the summer, as it forced them into an array of behaviour changes such as changed circadian rhythms, unusual food intake patterns and such things. These "coping strategies" however, appears as being unreflected and spontaneous rather than deliberate actions of countering an attendant threat.

How does the municipality of Trelleborg strategically manage the health risks to its elderly population due to heat exposure?

The issue of heat related health risks to elderly is mainly treated by the security department of Trelleborg through measures categorized as "preparedness for response". The heat wave plan, which is a document outlining response measures to reduce the health risk for vulnerable individuals has its primary focus is on the elderly citizens within the elderly care system. In order to stay in good health, these elderly individuals receive assistance per routines listed in the heat wave plan. The elderly citizens not receiving elderly care are primarily targeted by information on how to stay in good health during a heat wave, aimed at themselves and their relatives. While the elderly citizens within the elderly care

system are likely to be *most* susceptible to adverse effects of heat, other vulnerable individuals such as the lonely or people living on the top floor, remain somewhat left "to their own devices". Consequently, the certain risk context of elderly and heat is not confronted with a flexible adaptational system. Rather, it is short of "hazard avoidance/reduction" and "vulnerability reduction" measures.

How does the elderly population and the municipality of Trelleborg interact on mitigating the health risks to elderly due to heat exposure?

The study shows that there are few elderly-municiapality interactions regarding the management of health risks due to heat exposure. Although acknowledged in the Climate adaptation plan, collaboration is represented only in one interaction between a tenant and the environmental inspectors. Other interactions occurred in the shape of elderly care and information to citizens. However, there is a number of potential meeting points where the elderly population interacts with officials from the municipality, although these have not been used to collaborate on heat-related issues to date. There are also places where citizens can submit their opinions and complaints, such as through the citizen participation progress during comprehensive planning.

With respect to the answers of questions 1-4, how can the municipality of Trelleborg improve the flexibility of its adaptational measures regarding health risks to elderly?

The work on mitigating health effects to elderly due to heat exposure would benefit from increased flexibility and inclusiveness of the adaptational system. Suggested improvements include implementation of ecosystem-based adaptation, more focus on the suitable channels of information as well as achieving what is referred to as heat-escape or heat evacuation.

References

- Abrahamson, V., Wolf, J., Lorenzoni, I., Fenn, B., Kovats, S., Wilkinson, P., . . . Raine, R. (2009). Perceptions of heatwave risks to health: interview-based study of older people in London and Norwich, UK. *J Public Health (Oxf)*, 31(1), 119-126.
- Adger, W. N., Barnett, J., Brown, K., Marshall, N., & O'Brien, K. (2013). Cultural dimensions of climate change impacts and adaptation. *Nature Climate Change*, *3*, 112-117.
- Adger, W. N., Brown, I., & Surminski, S. (2018). Advances in risk assessment for climate change adaptation policy. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical & Engineering Sciences, 376*(2121), 1–13.
- Ahmed, F., & Galanis, I. (2018). Rapport om överdödlighet: Sommar 2018 [unpublished report]. Folkhälsomyndigheten.
- Akerlof, K., DeBono, R., Berry, P., Leiserowitz, A., Roser-Renouf, C., Clarke, K.-L., . . . Maibach, E. W. (2010). Public Perceptions of Climate Change as a Human Health Risk: Surveys of the United States, Canada and Malta. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 7(6), 2559-2606.
- Akerlof, K. L., Delamater, P. L., Boules, C. R., Upperman, C. R., & Mitchell, C. S. (2015). Vulnerable Populations Perceive Their Health as at Risk from Climate Change. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, *12*(12), 15419-15433.
- Akompab, D. A., Bi, P., Williams, S., Grant, J., Walker, I. A., & Augoustinos, M. (2013). Heat waves and climate change: applying the health belief model to identify predictors of risk perception and adaptive behaviours in adelaide, australia. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 10(6), 2164-2184.
- Alvesson, M., & Sköldberg, K. (2008). *Tolkning och reflektion: vetenskapsfilosofi och kvalitativ metod*. Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- Andersson, L., Forsberg, B., Oudin Åström, D., Pettersson-Strömbäck, A., & Åström, C. (2012). *Med värme ihågkommen* (2012:4). Retrieved from Umeå Universitet: http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:umu:diva-98517
- Armson, D., Stringer, P., & Ennos, A. R. (2013). The effect of street trees and amenity grass on urban surface water runoff in Manchester, UK. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, 12(3), 282-286.
- Astrom, D. O., Forsberg, B., & Rocklov, J. (2011). Heat wave impact on morbidity and mortality in the elderly population: a review of recent studies. *Maturitas*, 69(2), 99-105.
- Beaulieu, N., Santos Silva, J., & Plante, S. (2016). Using a vision of a desired future in climate change adaptation planning: lessons learned in the municipality of Rivière-au-Tonnerre (Québec, Canada). *Climate and Development*, 8(5), 447-457.
- Bergquist, M., Nilsson, A., & Schultz, P. W. (2019). Experiencing a Severe Weather Event Increases Concern About Climate Change. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 220.
- Bergström, J., Kühlmann, S., & Galanis, I. (2018). Statistisk rapport enkätundersökning: Det ovanligt varma vädret sommaren 2018 [unpublished report]. Folkhälsomyndigheten.

- Bergström, S. (2018, 4 september). Så tänker trelleborgare efter sommarens värmebölja. *Trelleborgs Allehanda*. Retrieved from http://www.trelleborgsallehanda.se/trelleborg/blev-du-orolig-over-klimatet-i-somras/
- Besir, A. B., & Cuce, E. (2018). Green roofs and facades: A comprehensive review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 82, 915-939.
- Bittner, M. I., & Stossel, U. (2012). Perceptions of heatwave risks to health: results of an qualitative interview study with older people and their carers in Freiburg, Germany. *Psychosoc Med*, 9, Doc05.
- Bojovic, D., Bonzanigo, L., Giupponi, C., & Maziotis, A. (2015). Online participation in climate change adaptation: A case study of agricultural adaptation measures in Northern Italy. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 157, 8-19.
- Brighetti, G., Ottaviani, C., Nucifora, V., & Borlimi, R. (2011). Decision Making: Psychological Perspective. In C. Lucarelli & G. Brighetti (Eds.), *Risk Tolerance in Financial Decision Making* (pp. 133-152). London: Palgrave Macmillan UK.
- Brink, E., & Wamsler, C. (2018). Collaborative Governance for Climate Change Adaptation: Mapping citizen–municipality interactions. *Environmental Policy and Governance*, 28(2), 82-97.
- Brink, E. (2018). Adapting cities Ecosystem-based approaches and citizen engagement in municipal climate adaptation in Scania, Sweden (Doctoral thesis, University of Lund, Lund). Retrieved from http://lup.lub.lu.se/record/13988b39-46e3-4ed3-88ca-59b6ab1602ff
- Brown, S., & Walker, G. (2008). Understanding heat wave vulnerability in nursing and residential homes. *Building Research & Information*, 36(4), 363-372.
- Bryman, A. (2016). Social research methods. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Burton, P., & Nalau, J. (2013). Planning for Climate Change: Is Greater Public Participation the Key to Success? *Urban Policy and Research*, 31(4), 399-416.
- Cadot, E., Rodwin, V. G., & Spira, A. (2007). In the heat of the summer: lessons from the heat waves in Paris. *J Urban Health*, 84(4), 466-468.
- Cameron, J. (2016). Focusing on the Focus Group. In I. Hay (Ed.), *Qualitative research methods in human geography* (4 ed., pp. 203-224). Ontario: Oxford University Press.
- Canoui-Poitrine, F., Cadot, E., Spira, A., & Groupe Regional, C. (2006). Excess deaths during the August 2003 heat wave in Paris, France. *Rev Epidemiol Sante Publique*, 54(2), 127-135.
- Carmin, J., Nadkarni, N., & Rhie, C. (2012). *Progress and challenges in urban climate adaptation planning: results of a global survey*. Retrieved from Resilient cities: http://resilient-cities.iclei.org/fileadmin/sites/resilient-cities/files/Resilient_Cities_2012/Urban_Adaptation_Report_23May2012. pdf
- Cloutier, G., Joerin, F., Dubois, C., Labarthe, M., Legay, C., & Viens, D. (2015). Planning adaptation based on local actors' knowledge and participation: a climate governance experiment. *Climate Policy*, 15(4), 458-474.
- Cornes, I. C., & Cook, B. (2018). Localising climate change: heatwave responses in urban households. *Disaster Prevention and Management: An International Journal*, 27(2), 159-174.
- Datta, A., Bhatia, V., Noll, J., & Dixit, S. (2019). Bridging the Digital Divide: Challenges in Opening the Digital World to the Elderly, Poor, and Digitally Illiterate. *IEEE Consumer Electronics Magazine*, 8(1), 78-81.
- Dematte, J. E., O'Mara, K., Buescher, J., Whitney, C. G., Forsythe, S., McNamee, T., . . . Ndukwu, I. M. (1998). Near-fatal heat stroke during the 1995 heat wave in Chicago. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 129(3), 173-181.

- Demski, C., Capstick, S., Pidgeon, N., Sposato, R. G., & Spence, A. (2017). Experience of extreme weather affects climate change mitigation and adaptation responses. *Climatic Change*, 140(2), 149-164.
- Denscombe, M. (2018). Forskningshandboken: för småskaliga forskningsprojekt inom samhällsvetenskaperna. Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- EEA. (2012). Challenges and opportunities for cities together with supportive national and European policies (EEA Report 2/2012). Retrieved from https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/urban-adaptation-to-climate-change
- EEA. (2017). Climate change, impacts and vulnerability in Europe 2016. An indicator-based report (EEA Report 1/2017). Retrieved from https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/climate-change-impacts-and-vulnerability-2016
- Elmqvist, T., Setälä, H., Handel, S. N., van der Ploeg, S., Aronson, J., Blignaut, J. N., . . . de Groot, R. (2015). Benefits of restoring ecosystem services in urban areas. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 14, 101-108.
- Esaiasson, P., Gilljam, M., Oscarsson, H., Towns, A. E., & Wängnerud, L. (2017). Metodpraktikan: konsten att studera samhälle, individ och marknad. Stockholm: Wolters Kluwer.
- Fagan-Watson, B., & Burchell, K. (2016). Heatwave planning: community involvement in co-producing resilience. *Building Research & Information*, 44(7), 754-763.
- Fernandez Milan, B., & Creutzig, F. (2015). Reducing urban heat wave risk in the 21st century. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 14, 221-231.
- Field, C. B., Barros, V., Stocker, T. F., & Dahe, Q. (2012). Managing the risks of extreme events and disasters to advance climate change adaptation: special report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Retrieved from https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/03/SREX_Full_Report-1.pdf
- Flyvbjerg, B. (2006). Five misunderstandings about case-study research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 12(2), 219-245.
- Folkhälsomyndigheten. (2015). Hälsoeffekter av höga temperaturer: En kunskapssammanställning. Retrieved from https://www.folkhalsomyndigheten.se/contentassets/e39b425555f44a3ba0 5aa0dbaa956c43/halsoeffekter-hoga-temperaturer-15048-webb.pdf
- Foss, A. (2016). Divergent responses to sustainability and climate change planning: The role of politics, cultural frames and public participation. *Urban Studies*, 55(2), 332-348.
- Frumhoff, P. C., McCarthy, J. J., Melillo, J. M., Moser, S. C., & Wuebbles, D. J. (2007). *Confronting Climate Change in the US Northeast: Science, impacts, and solutions*. Retrieved from Union of concerned scientists: https://www.ucsusa.org/sites/default/files/legacy/assets/documents/global_warming/pdf/confronting-climate-change-in-the-u-s-northeast.pdf
- Gamble, J. L., Hurley, B. J., Schultz, P. A., Jaglom, W. S., Krishnan, N., & Harris, M. (2013). Climate change and older Americans: state of the science. *Environ Health Perspect*, 121(1), 15-22.
- Gill, S., Handley, J. F., Ennos, R., & Pauleit, S. (2007). Adapting Cities for Climate Change: The Role of the Green Infrastructure. *Built Environment*, 33(1), 115-133.
- Greenberg, M. R. (2014). Protecting Seniors against Environmental disasters: From hazards and vulnerability to prevention and resilience. London: Routledge.
- Guergova, S., & Dufour, A. (2011). Thermal sensitivity in the elderly: A review. *Ageing Research Reviews, 10*(1), 80-92.

- Gupta, S., Carmichael, C., Simpson, C., J Clarke, M., Allen, C., Gao, Y., . . . Murray, V. (2012). Electric fans for reducing adverse health impacts in heatwaves. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 7.
- Haase, D., Larondelle, N., Andersson, E., Artmann, M., Borgström, S., Breuste, J., . . . Elmqvist, T. (2014). A Quantitative Review of Urban Ecosystem Service Assessments: Concepts, Models, and Implementation. *AMBIO*, 43(4), 413-433.
- Hall, M., Lund, E., & Rummukainen, M. (eds.) (2015). *Klimatsäkrat Skåne* (CEC rapport 02). Retrieved from Centrum för miljö- och klimatforskning, Lunds universitet: http://www.cec.lu.se/sv/sites/cec.lu.se/files/klimatsakrat_skane_65mb.pdf
- Hegger, D. L. T., Mees, H. L. P., Driessen, P. P. J., & Runhaar, H. A. C. (2017). The Roles of Residents in Climate Adaptation: A systematic review in the case of the Netherlands. *Environmental Policy and Governance*, 27(4), 336-350.
- Hendel, M., Azos-Diaz, K., & Tremeac, B. (2017). Behavioral adaptation to heat-related health risks in cities. *Energy and Buildings*, 152, 823-829.
- Hintz, M. J., Luederitz, C., Lang, D. J., & von Wehrden, H. (2018). Facing the heat: A systematic literature review exploring the transferability of solutions to cope with urban heat waves. *Urban Climate*, 24, 714-727.
- Jonsson, A. C., & Lundgren, L. (2015). Vulnerability and adaptation to heat in cities: perspectives and perceptions of local adaptation decision-makers in Sweden. *Local Environment*, 20(4), 442-458.
- Juhola, S., & Westerhoff, L. (2011). Challenges of adaptation to climate change across multiple scales: a case study of network governance in two European countries. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 14(3), 239-247.
- Khosla, R., & Guntupalli, K. K. (1999). Heat-related illnesses. *Critical Care Clinics*, 15(2), 251-263.
- Klinenberg, E. (2002). *Heat wave: a social autopsy of disaster in Chicago*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Krueger, R. (1998). Developing Questions for Focus Groups. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Kunz-Plapp, T., Hackenbruch, J., & Schipper, J. W. (2016). Factors of subjective heat stress of urban citizens in contexts of everyday life. *Nat. Hazards Earth Syst. Sci.*, 16(4), 977-994.
- Lee, W. V., & Shaman, J. (2017). Heat-coping strategies and bedroom thermal satisfaction in New York City. *Science of The Total Environment*, 574, 1217-1231.
- Li, D., & Bou-Zeid, E. (2013). Synergistic Interactions between Urban Heat Islands and Heat Waves: The Impact in Cities Is Larger than the Sum of Its Parts. *Journal of Applied Meteorology and Climatology*, 52(9), 2051-2064.
- Ljung, A. (2014). *Klimatanpassningsåtgärder i Trelleborgs kommun Nulägesrapport* 2013-2014. Retrieved from https://www.trelleborg.se/globalassets/files/samhallsbyggnadsforvaltninge n/filer/hallbarutveckling/klimatanpassningsatgarder_nulagesrapport_2013-2014.pdf
- Luber, G., & McGeehin, M. (2008). Climate Change and Extreme Heat Events. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 35(5), 429-435.
- Maller, C., & Strengers, Y. (2011). Housing, heat stress and health in a changing climate: Promoting the adaptive capacity of vulnerable households, a suggested way forward. *Health Promotion International*, 26(4), 492-498.
- Malmberg, B., Jakobsson, E., Albin, M., Forsberg, B., Mattisson, K., & Åström, C. (2014). Beredskapsplan och varningssystem för värmeböljor/höga temperaturer i Skåne Ett pilotprojekt på uppdrag av Klimatsamverkan Skåne (9/2014). Retrieved from

- https://skl.se/download/18.1e80a68614cd1869610de9e5/1429793350645/Beredskapsplan-och-varningssystem-for-varmeboljor-skane.pdf
- Mant, R., Perry, E., Heath, M., Munroe, R., Väänänen, E., Großheim, C., & Kümper-Schlake, L. (2014). *Addressing Climate Change: Why Biodiversity Matters*. Retrieved from http://unep-wcmc.org/resources-and-data/biodiversity-criteria-in-iki
- McCarthy, J. J., Canziani, O. F., Leary, N. A., Dokken, D. J., & White, K. S. (2001). *Climate Change 2001: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability*. (IPCC Third Assessment Report). Retrieved from https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar3/wg2/
- Mees, H., Driessen, P., & Runhaar, H. (2015). "Cool" governance of a "hot" climate issue: public and private responsibilities for the protection of vulnerable citizens against extreme heat. *Regional Environmental Change*, 15(6), 1065-1079.
- Morss, R. E., Wilhelmi, O. V., Meehl, G. A., & Dilling, L. (2011). Improving Societal Outcomes of Extreme Weather in a Changing Climate: An Integrated Perspective. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, 36(1), 1-25.
- MSB. (2018). SMHI:s system för vädervarningar. Retrieved from https://www.krisinformation.se/detta-gor-samhallet/vad-ar-en-kris/vma-sa-varnas-allmanheten/smhis-system-for-vadervarningar
- Nassopoulos, H., Ehret, M., Vuillet, M., Cariolet, J. M., Colombert, M., & Diab, Y. (2015). State of the Art Report: Resilience, Adaptation and Disaster Risk Reduction: concepts, definitions and application (1). Retrieved from http://www.resin-cities.eu/resources/sota/
- Nowak, D. J., Greenfield, E. J., Hoehn, R. E., & Lapoint, E. (2013). Carbon storage and sequestration by trees in urban and community areas of the United States. *Environmental Pollution*, 178, 229-236.
- Pachauri, R. K., & Meyer, L. (2014). Climate change 2014 Synthesis Report: Summary for Policymakers. Retrieved from https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/AR5_SYR_FINAL_SPM. pdf
- Patel, R., & Davidson, B. (2011). Forskningsmetodikens grunder: att planera, genomföra och rapportera en undersökning. Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- Perkins, S. E., Alexander, L. V., & Nairn, J. R. (2012). Increasing frequency, intensity and duration of observed global heatwaves and warm spells. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 39(20).
- Pisello, A. L., Rosso, F., Castaldo, V. L., Piselli, C., Fabiani, C., & Cotana, F. (2017). The role of building occupants' education in their resilience to climate-change related events. *Energy and Buildings*, 154, 217-231.
- Poortinga, W., Fisher, S., Bohm, G., Steg, L., Whitmarsh, L., & Ogunbode, C. (2018). European attitudes to climate change and energy. Topline results from Round 8 of the European Social Survey. Retrieved from European Social Survey: https://www.europeansocialsurvey.org/docs/findings/ESS8_toplines_issue 9 climatechange.pdf
- Prutsch, A., Steurer, R., & Stickler, T. (2018). Is the participatory formulation of policy strategies worth the effort? The case of climate change adaptation in Austria. *Regional Environmental Change*, 18(1), 271-285.
- Retriever. (2019). *Varmare klimat iskall nyhet? En rapport om klimatet i svensk media*. Retrieved from https://viskogen.se/app/uploads/2019/05/vi-skogenrapport-2019-print.pdf
- Rhoades, J. L. (2016). Enhancing the Resilience of Vulnerable Groups Through Participatory Climate Change Adaptation Planning: A Case Study with the Elderly Community of Bridgeport, Connecticut (Doctoral thesis, Antioch University, New England). Retrieved from https://aura.antioch.edu/etds/285/

- Robine, J.-M., Cheung, K., Le Roy, S., Oyen, H., Griffiths, C., Michel, j.-p., & Herrmann, F. (2008). Death toll exceeded 70,000 in Europe during the summer of 2003. *C. R. Biologies*, *331*, 171-178.
- Robson, C. (1993). Real world research: a resource for social scientists and practitioner-researchers. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Sarzynski, A. (2015). Public participation, civic capacity, and climate change adaptation in cities. *Urban Climate*, 14, 52-67.
- Semenza, J. C., Rubin, C. H., Falter, K. H., Selanikio, J. D., Flanders, W. D., Howe, H. L., & Wilhelm, J. L. (1996). Heat-Related Deaths during the July 1995 Heat Wave in Chicago. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 335(2), 84-90.
- SMHI. (2011). *Värmeböljor i sverige* (49/2011). Retrieved from http://www.smhi.se/polopoly_fs/1.16889!webbFaktablad_49.pdf
- SMHI. (2014). *Uppdatering av det klimatvetenskapliga kunskapsläget*. Retrieved from Digitala vetenskapliga arkivet: https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:948090/FULLTEXT01.pdf
- SMHI. (2018). Sommaren 2018 Extremt varm och solig. Retrieved from https://www.smhi.se/klimat/klimatet-da-och-nu/arets-vader/sommaren-2018-extremt-varm-och-solig-1.138134
- Socialstyrelsen. (2005). *Temperatur inomhus*. Retrieved from Folkhälsomyndigheten: https://www.folkhalsomyndigheten.se/publicerat-material/publikationsarkiv/t/temperatur-inomhus/
- Stoutenborough, W. J., Kirkpatrick, J. K., Field, J. M., & Vedlitz, A. (2015). What Butterfly Effect? The Contextual Differences in Public Perceptions of the Health Risk Posed by Climate Change. *Climate*, *3*(3), 668-688.
- Söderqvist, T., Jirvell, G., Malmaeus, M., Roseman, E., Tegeback, A., Gotting, J., . . . Lundmark, L. (2015). *Hur tillämpas miljöbalkens rimlighetsavvägning* (2015:1). Retrieved from Länsstyrelsen: http://extra.lansstyrelsen.se/rus/SiteCollectionDocuments/Stöd% 20i% 20åt gärdsarbetet/Miljöekonomi/Rapport% 20till% 20NV_2015-01-31% 20(2).pdf
- Taylor, A. L., Dessai, S., & Bruine de Bruin, W. (2014). Public perception of climate risk and adaptation in the UK: A review of the literature. *Climate Risk Management*, 4-5, 1-16.
- Thoni, T (ed.). (2017). Ekosystembaserad klimatanpassning: en kunskapsöversyn (CEC SYNTES NR 04). Retrieved from Lunds universitet: https://www.cec.lu.se/sites/cec.lu.se/files/cec_syntes_no_4_2017_0.pdf
- Trelleborgs kommun. (2014). Fördjupning av Översiktsplanen för Trelleborgs Stad 2025. Retrieved from https://www.trelleborg.se/sv/bygga-bo-miljo/kommunens-planarbete/oversiktsplaner/oversiktsplan-2028/
- Trelleborgs kommun. (2018a). *Plan för värmebölja [internal document]*. Retrieved from
- Trelleborgs kommun. (2018b). Framtidens Trelleborg Översiktsplan för orter och landsbygd 2028. Retrieved from https://www.trelleborg.se/sv/bygga-bo-miljo/kommunens-planarbete/oversiktsplaner/oversiktsplan-2028/
- Trelleborgs kommun. (2018c). *Klimatanpassningsplan 2018*. Retrieved from https://www.trelleborg.se/globalassets/files/kommunledningsforvaltningen/hallbar-utveckling/filer/klimat/klimatanpassningsplan-2018.pdf
- Trelleborgs kommun. (2018d, 24 July). Varning för värme. Retrieved from https://www.trelleborg.se/sv/aktuellt/nyheter/2018/juli/varning-for-varme/
- Trelleborgs kommun. (2018e). *Beredskapsplan vid värmebölja Allmänna råd till äldre och deras anhöriga*. Retrieved from https://www.trelleborg.se/globalassets/files/raddningstjansten/raddningstjansten/filer/goda_rad/beredskapsplan-varmebolja-trelleborg.pdf
- UNFCCC. (2015). Adoption of the Paris Agreement, 21st Conference of the Parties. Paris: UNFCCC

- Vetenskapsrådet. (2002). Forskningsetiska principer inom humanistisksamhällsvetenskaplig forskning. Retrieved from http://www.codex.vr.se/texts/HSFR.pdf
- Wamsler, C. (2006). Mainstreaming risk reduction in urban planning and housing: a challenge for international aid organisations. *Disasters*, 30(2), 151-177.
- Wamsler, C. (2014). Cities, Disaster Risk and Adaptation. London: Routledge.
- Wamsler, C., & Brink, E. (2014). Moving beyond short-term coping and adaptation. *Environment and Urbanization*, 26(1), 86-111.
- Ward, K., Lauf, S., Kleinschmit, B., & Endlicher, W. (2016). Heat waves and urban heat islands in Europe: A review of relevant drivers. *Science of The Total Environment*, 569-570, 527-539.
- Watkiss, P. (2007). Climate change: the cost of inaction and the cost of adaptation (Technical report No 13/2007). Retrieved from European environment agency: https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/technical_report_2007_13
- Watts, N., Amann, M., Arnell, N., Ayeb-Karlsson, S., Belesova, K., Berry, H., . . . Costello, A. (2018). The 2018 report of the Lancet Countdown on health and climate change: shaping the health of nations for centuries to come. Retrieved from The Lancet: https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(18)32594-7/fulltext
- Weber, E. U., & Hsee, C. K. (1999). Models and mosaics: investigating cross-cultural differences in risk perception and risk preference. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, 6(4), 611-617.
- WHO. (2014). Quantitative risk assessment of the effects of climate change on selected causes of death, 2030s and 2050s. Retrieved from WHO: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/134014/9789241507691_eng.pdf;jsessionid=6AD8542827D14A61390B47A693038126?sequence=
- WHO. (2018). *COP24 special report: health and climate change*. Retrieved from WHO: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/276405/9789241514972-eng.pdf?ua=1
- Wibeck, V. (2000). Fokusgrupper: om fokuserade gruppintervjuer som undersökningsmetod. Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- Wicks, D. A. (2004). Older Adults and Their Information Seeking. *Behavioral & Social Sciences Librarian*, 22(2), 1-26.
- Wiseman, J., Williamson Corr, L., & Fritze, J. (2010). Community engagement and climate change: learning from recent Australian Experience. *International Journal of Climate Change Strategies and Management*, 2(2), 134-147.
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research: design and methods. London: Sage.
- Zambianchi, M., Rönnlund, M., & Carelli, M. G. (2019). Attitudes Towards and Use of Information and Communication Technologies (ICTs) Among Older Adults in Italy and Sweden: the Influence of Cultural Context, Socio-Demographic Factors, and Time Perspective. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Gerontology*.
- Åstrom, C., Orru, H., Rocklov, J., Strandberg, G., Ebi, K. L., & Forsberg, B. (2013). Heat-related respiratory hospital admissions in Europe in a changing climate: a health impact assessment. *BMJ Open, 3*(1), 1-7.

Appendix 1 - Interview guide - focus groups with the elderly

Project introduction

Moderator – who is he?

- Information about the study/aim
- Information about the participants role
- Information about how the material will be used (RISE)
- Information about the recording procedure
- Information about ethic principles
- No right/wrong answers

Interview

(Opening question, everybody answers in turn)

• What you describe the summer of 2018 in one sentence?

(Introduction questions, open questions about the theme)

- What are your general thoughts about hot weather?
- What are your general thoughts about the summer of 2018?

(Transition questions, to the bigger picture, deeper into experiences)

- What are your thoughts on the health risks associated with hot weather?
- Do you feel that you are sensitive to heat?

(Key questions, most central questions)

- During the summer of 2018, how was your everyday life affected by the hot weather?
- Had you prepared for such hot weather, and if so how?
- Did you take any measures to protect yourself from the hot weather, and if so what?

- Did you have contact with 'authorities' regarding heat?
- Were you in contact with anybody else regarding the heat?
- Can you share a specific memory from the summer of 2018 when the heat was particularly palpable to you?
- Have you taken any measures for future heat waves?
- What are your thoughts on how to distribute the responsibility for managing health risks with hot weather?
- What should be done in order to protect the elderly from the health risks of future heat waves?

(Ending question)

• Does anybody want to add anything?

Final points

- Send final report?
- Acquire contact information / birth year?

Appendix 2 - Interview Guide - interviews with public officials

Project introduction

- Information about the study/aim
- Information about the participants role
- Information about how the material will be used
- Question of RISE
- Information about the recording procedure
- Information about ethic principles

Interview

General questions

- What is included in your mission, and what are your responsibilities in relation to health risks to the (elderly) population of Trelleborg due to heat exposure?
- How do you/your department work to reduce the health risks to the (elderly) population of Trelleborg due to heat exposure?
- How do you collaborate with other parts of the municipality on the topic of the health risks to the (elderly) population of Trelleborg due to heat exposure?
- In your opinion, what should be done in order to reduce the health risks to the (elderly) population of Trelleborg due to heat exposure?
- In what ways have you/your department been in contact with the elderly population on the topic of health risks for elderly populations due to heat exposure?
- How do you relate these issues to climate change?
- How do you relate this work to the concept of climate change adaptation?

The summer of 2018

- From the perspective of your professional role, how did you perceive the summer of 2018 in relation to the health risks to the (elderly) population of Trelleborg due to heat exposure?
- How did you/your department manage the health risks to the (elderly) population of Trelleborg due to heat exposure *during* the summer of 2018?
- How has the summer of 2018 affected the work on reducing the health risks to the (elderly) population of Trelleborg due to heat exposure?
- Have you/your department been in contact with the elderly population regarding the health risks of heat exposure they faced during the summer of 2018? If so how?

Final points

- What documents can provide me with information on how the municipality deals with the health risks to the (elderly) population of Trelleborg due to heat exposure?
- Send final report?